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Introduction

“Pure Chastity is rifled of her store / and Lust, the thief, far
poorer than before”'. These Shakespearean lines describe a
situation that has always existed in the past, exists today and
probably will exist in the future: sexual violence. In these words,
we find the contrast between the female side and the male one,
represented by the personifications of “Pure Chastity” and
“Lust”. The first one resumes in two simple words the struggle
of women of protecting their gift, their virginity, on which their
social acceptance and respect depended. Until last century, it
was the symbol and proof of the woman’s fidelity towards her
future husband and her family. It was a double-edged sword
because it could elevate the woman’s reputation or it could
destroy her life, forcing her to accept the social and familiar
non-recognition and in extreme cases, even her exile. Rich or
poor, every woman could risk losing her virginity every single
day because of the male uncontrollable “Lust”.

In the several writings analysed, men have been depicted as
hungry predators uncapable of retaining their sexual desires,
who wait for the right moment to attack their prey and gain
violently what they have coveted for a long time. Yet, in the
end, both parts will lose something. The woman will lose her
status symbol, and her rapist will be “far poorer than before”:
because once his sexual desire is satisfied, it will come back
forcing him to choose another prey to ravish. Moreover, he will
lose the woman whom he deflowered before and could also face
a legal action in court.

The main aim of my thesis is to describe some rape cases
that happened in early modern Italy and England and explain
female struggle in fighting against the misogynistic society’s

rules and injustices that imposed them a forced silence.

L Shakespeare’s poems, Katherine Duncan-Jones and H.R. Woudhuysen, The Arden Shakespeare (2007), p.296 v.692-
693.
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This work is divided in four chapters. The first one, Rape
cases in the Venetian and Roman courts, presents, as the title
suggests, the reactions of several unknown Italian female
victims of sexual assault who had to defend themselves in
courts, demonstrate and convince through their words their
innocence to the judges, the main representatives of their
misogynistic society.

The second chapter, Artemisia Gentileschi — the modern
Judith, focuses on the rape case of the well-known Italian
female artist, Artemisia Gentileschi. It begins with a description
of the entire case, focused on the main speeches of the victim,
her rapist and all the other witnesses; it ends with a personal
consideration of her artistic reaction towards her rape, which I
have defined as unconscious feminism. Even though she
depicted several mythological and religious rape scenes where
the female victims take their revenge against their rapist, she
never meant to become a premature feminist icon, as she is
defined nowadays.

The third section, Rape cases in England — Margaret
Knowsley & Suzan More, is the reflection of the first chapter
because it describes two rape cases in England. They have
different endings: the first story focuses more on social
injustices that the female victim had to face, while the second
one is more an exception, because it has a happy ending, where
the rapist is considered guilty and is persecuted for the pain he
caused to an innocent and good hardworking woman.

The last chapter, Philomela and Lucrece: literary exemplum
of forced silence, focuses on the reactions of several female
English writers, who used two classical examples of raped
women, Philomela and the Roman matron Lucretia, to express
their feelings towards the social injustices and the imposed
forced silence, and express their hope for a common female
reaction to change their current state of subordination. In order

to write this chapter, I consulted the site of Women Writers
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Project, promoted by the Northeastern University of Boston. It is
a long-term project, whose aim is to give teachers, students and
general readers the chance to come in contact with several
female writings of different historical periods. Every
collaborator can choose a topic and analyse texts connected to it,
which are provided by this site that offers many research
options. The University of Padua takes part to this project,
focusing on the topic of the excellence of women to create a
comparison between Italy and the England.

Being an excellent woman is here connected not only to
these women’s private fight against the misogynistic society to
gain importance and independence, but also to their pain, fears,
injustices and their silence. Even though women have been able
to gain more power and respect since then, there are still many
episodes of sexual violence and male repression. Contemporary
women nowadays should learn from these past examples what
real strength is and find in them the courage to talk and fight for
themselves. As the United Nations Secretary-General Kofi
Annan once said: "Violence against women is perhaps the most
shameful human rights violation. It knows no boundaries of
geography, culture or wealth. As long as it continues, we cannot
claim to be making real progress towards equality, development,

and peace."”.

2 Kofi Annan, Gender Equality, Development and Peace for the Twenty-first Century, New York, 5-9 June 2000.
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Rape cases in the Venetian and Roman courts

In this chapter I will describe some rape cases that happened in
two important early modern cities: Venice and Rome. The first
part will be characterized by a brief description of the Venetian
judicial structure and penalties, which changed on the basis of

the culprit’s social rank and the gravity of the sexual offense.

In the second part, I will focus more on women’s speeches
and their different reactions in the Roman court, which
jeopardized the judges’ trust and their punishment selection

criteria.

1.1 - Venice

In Early modern Venice, all sexual crimes exposed several
contradictory relationships, which defined human change in life
and society. This criminality was sanctioned by a new code: “the
Promissione Maleficorum”. The latter was an appendix used to
define and ameliorate the city’s laws, organised by the Doge
Jacobo Tiepolo®. It was divided in different sections (Robbery;
Assault and Murder; Rape and Bigamy) and it presented a list of
all the penalties that judges could give on the basis of the
seriousness of the crime. It was corrected and revised many

times over by a group of the city’s elite members: merchants and

3 The Doge underlined that Venetian justice needed “order to correct excess and punish crime”.
Guido Ruggiero, “Law and Punishment in Early Renaissance Venice”, in Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology, 69
J. Crim. L. & Criminology 243 (1978).
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bankers. Every crime had to be solved rapidly: if one of them

was known publicly, it had to be solved in three days.

The judicial system was divided in four parts: the Avogaria di
Commun, the Signori della Notte, the Giudici di Proprio and the
council of Forty®. The first three differed on the basis of the
crimes they followed and solved. The Avogadori were one of
the most ancient and complex of the Venetian bodies, which
dealt with heterosexual sex crimes (including rape and certain
nonsexual violent crimes) and civil ones. It did not enjoy
judicial or legislative powers, but nevertheless, sat in the central
council of state to verify if the other councils followed the rules
and the procedures of the Venetian government. Moreover, this
group collected all the details of each case in registers and
prepared all the cases and presented the results of their
investigations to the council of Forty, suggesting penalties for
the culprits. The latter argued about the guilty, the innocence

and the possible penalty for the criminal.

It was clear that even though this group did not have directs
decisional powers, it created and maintained a considerable
authority, which increased the nobles’ appreciation for this
group. The Signori della Notte dealt with cases of interpersonal
violence, excluding heterosexual sex crimes and dividing it into
two different categories: petty violence, which was handled in
the streets; and murder and robbery, which were investigated
and presented to the Giudici di Proprio, who decided the
penalty. From this division of responsibilities there derived a
hierarchy of seriousness of crime. Petty violence was not
considered a dangerous case at all, as it happened with great
regularity. Interpersonal violence, like murder and robbery, were
considered serious situations that would have ruined the victim’s

reputation or its life. Heterosexual cases presented themselves as

4 The first three councils were known for their rigidity that opposed to the flexibility of the Ten, (which changed
through the passing of time). Guido Ruggiero, “Law and Punishment in Early Renaissance Venice”, in Journal of
Criminal Law and Criminology, 69 J. Crim. L. & Criminology 243 (1978).
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a massive group of misdeeds of different shapes and sizes. It
was not difficult to find sexual cases that were even classified as
interpersonal crimes and for this reason, although it was difficult

to find an appropriate punishment and compensation.

The first case that had been ever assigned to the Avogadori
could be the best example of this “mixture of crimes”. In 1343,
Giovanni Andruzo da Lucca, who worked for a Venetian silk
industry, had been unjustly accused of stealing 100 ducats by
one of his employers, named Federico Spira. At the beginning,
the latter had been fined by the Forty with 100 ducats. However,
only after that did Federico reveal his real complaint behind that
story: Giovanni had broken into his house and raped his
daughter, deflowering her. Through an attentive investigation of
the case by the Avogadori, on the 10" September, Giovanni was
publicly declared culprit of having raped a young girl. The Forty
had to choose the penalty and all the members had to vote
between a year in jail or the payment of 100 ducats. In the end,

Giovanni had to spend one year behind bars.

Penalties were used to “punish the criminal and by inspiring
terror to prevent repetition and imitation™. Some of them were
extremely cruel, as for example mutilation, blinding and torture.
However, the Venetian concept of punishment was different
from other societies; in the latter, punishment was conceived
through a predominant vengeance, which was secondary to
rational punishment. The main aim of Venetian councils was
maintaining peace in difficult situations through an attentive

analysis and rationalization of each case.

Among all the possible crimes committed in Venice, rape and
attempted rape were not considered as important as murder and
robbery cases. Penalties revealed this important factor. The

Promissione underlined that there were fixed penalties if the

5 Guido Ruggiero, Violence in Early Renaissance Venice, Rutgers University Press, New Brunswick, New yersey, 43,
(1980).
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victim was “no longer a virgin, an unmarried woman who was
no longer a virgin, or a married woman™. If the culprit
confessed, or testimonies and proofs convicted him, he had to
spend eight days in prison, till he had found a way to pay his
fine, which would have been the victim’s dowry. The judges
determined this sum: if the rapist could not pay the amount of
money, he would lose both his eyes. Considering what the
Avogadori’s registers stated, the latter situation never happened
and punishment had always been minimal, consisting for
example of beating and branding. However, in many cases it
was difficult to understand who the culprit was; if the victim
was lying or not, or if it was a real rape case; for these reasons,

the penalty had to be left to the judges’ discretion’.

In time, justice changed. The previous punishment of eight days
in jail became a choice between the latter or the payment of a
fine. Everything was decided on the basis of the crime
committed and even the social position of the culprit. The
transition of these sentences had been quite paradoxical because
jail sentences reduced the number of prisoners in jail. Fines
tended to cause an excess of lower-class people who had to wait

in jail till they could have paid the amount of money.

One way to control this phenomenon was the gratia that only
the powerful men of the councils could grant. The culprit was
put directly in jail for few months, as a penalty for his crime,
and he was left there till the council of Forty would give the

gratia and release him.

In the end, the guilty could choose between two different
punishments: jail or fine. This choice became a social and
economic factor; the upper class culprits were fined, while the

lower class ones were sent to jail. On the contrary situations, a

% Guido Ruggiero, “Law and Punishment in Early Renaissance Venice”, in Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology,
69 J. Crim. L. & Criminology 246 (1978).
7 Considering that the Venetian society was mysogenistic and a male-oriented one, men, accused of having raped a
woman, were most of the cases acquitted.
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jail sentence for a noble would have been judged as a more

severe penalty and the same was the fine for a worker.

The different penalties imposed to these two groups depended
on the economical and social distinctions involved in social
control. Jail sentences predominated among workers because
they could not pay fines; nobles could afford them and skip
months in prison. However, it was not always like this: Venice
and its councils could punish both social classes through mixed
penalties, imposed only if the crime committed was extremely
cruel. As Ruggiero suggests, “for a worker, the mixed penalty
was a means of taxing whatever wealth the criminal had while
simultaneously reducing the amount of time he would take up
space in jail; for nobles, the mixed penalty was designed to add

severity to the usual fine”™.

Rape cases varied on the basis of the social hierarchy, the

woman’s age and the sex of the victim.

Venetian society was divided in four parts: nobles; important
men; workers and marginal people. All of them were

responsible of several sexual crimes.

I.1.1 - Noble rapists

The higher portion of rapes were committed by noble men;
however, they were strictly punished: the Avogadori and the
Council of Forty were composed by noble men, so there was
quite always the will of protecting people belonging to their
same social class. Rape by noble men was considered a minor
crime. The victims were women coming from all social classes;
the compensation changed from a social class to another one.

When a noble woman was raped, she was highly compensated,

8 Guido Ruggiero, Violence in Early Renaissance Venice, Rutgers University Press, New Brunswick, New yersey, 46-
47, (1980).
? Only 8 nobles were jailed for more than a year for rape, while most of them had been jailed for less than a year.
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while the noble man was highly punished. Most of the time, the
crime went underreported. The rape of a low class woman

brought lower punishments and compensations.

Nobles used to act in similar way with their victims. Men
bought off or intimidated their victims, bought the support of the
victim’s relatives or servants in order to commit the crime.
However, the latter were so much organised that they managed

to escape detection.

A famous example of a crime committed by a noble man was
the one that occurred to a young Venetian girl, who had been
raped by Franceschino dale Boccole, who had been helped by
the girl’s mother to commit this crime. Her daughter had not
reached her puberty yet and she brought her to the noble and
helped as he raped her twice. Both culprits were strictly
punished: Franceschino was jailed for two years and had to pay
a fine of 200 ducats; the girl’s mother passed one night in a
berlina and was whipped from Piazza San Marco to Santa
Croce; her misconduct was publicly exposed by herald; she

spent one year in jail.

1.1.2 - Noble victims of rape

Being a noble woman signified living a life full of advantages
and richness; however, they were not excluded from negative
situations such as rape. This type of sexual crime happened
rarely to them and it was classified as the worst type of rape that
could happen because of the social status of the woman. Rapists
were noble men, who had no difficulties in creating the right
situation in which they could remain alone with their victims
and take advantage on them. All the attention of the girl’s family
was not enough to protect her against the assault of a noble man.
However, the punishment was worse than the one that could

have been received by raping a woman of a lower class. Social
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status was also the main reason that explained why lower-class
men never raped noble women, who were unreachable for them.
Moreover, that type of crime committed by a non-noble man
would have been interpreted more as a crime against the state,

than one against the woman and her reputation.

1.1.3 - Rapists of important people

This social class was restricted to a little group of people, who
played an important role in the Venetian society. They were
merchants, professionals and civil officials, who wanted to
succeed and being recognized by nobles. Their collaboration

with the noble class represented the centre of the state.

The Avogadori registered few rape cases committed by those
men, yet the penalties received were higher than the ones
recognized for the nobles. Victims were women of a lower
social class. 8 cases out of 32 were classified as puellae, because
the victims were young girls who did not reached their puberty
when they had been deflowered. Ruggiero reports: “important
men raped puellae about twice as often as did any other class
and received almost twice the average penalty for doing s0”'’. In

this situation, nobles did not show empathy for the criminal

behaviour of this group.

Important women and lower class ones were accessible victims;
the first ones were carefully watched and more isolated, while

the latter were silenced with money if necessary.

10 [biden, p. 86.
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1.1.4 - Workers rapists

These groups showed unexpected levels of criminality. In this
case, rape produced different results: the rapist could choose to

marry his victim or pay a fine to her and his debt to the society.

Guido da Padua was a cloth worker in Venice. He raped Micola,
daughter of another worker, Antonio da Barleto, the Forty gave
him the chance to make a choice: marry the girl or face two
years of jail and pay 200 lire piccoli as a fine for his criminal
action. Guido married the young woman and provided her a

dowry.

Statistics and registers revealed that there was a big difference
between the rapes committed by the noble men or by workers.
The latter acted in a more spontaneous way because victims

were their neighbours, wives or daughters of their colleagues.

Young women belonging to this social class had to live under a
constant fear of becoming a sexual prey of a man. They often
used to remain alone with men and that condition invited any
possible attack from the other sex. Parents could give little
protection to their daughters but sometimes even they could
have taken part to these acts, delivering their daughters into the
hands of a rich man. Most cases ended with low penalties, which
reflected the incapability of the Forty of understanding the
nature of these crimes. They struggled in distinguishing a rape

from fornication or adultery.

I.1.5 - Marginal people rapists

Few cases were classified in the Avogadori’s registers, as “the

least visible people in history’’”

made up this class. Simple
people lived their life struggling every day to stay alive, working

occasionally and sleeping in the streets. Rape could have been

11 [biden, p. 86.
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the only sexual life for them and their victims were women
coming from within the group, as for example a slave of a noble.
However, because they had no social importance, most of these

cases were overlooked.

Women belonging to this group and who suffered from sexual
assault rarely had the chance to see their cases prosecuted in a
trial. Three were the main reasons that explained this situation:
first of all, their were the most available victims; moreover their
life did not allow them in finding protection and isolation as
noble women; in conclusion, they were an acceptable sexual
target. Even the penalties for rape were so marginal that they did

not punished who committed the violence.

1.1.6 - Puellae rape cases

Punishments for rape became more serious even considering the
age of the girl who had been deflowered. Premodern childhood
and victimization were more serious than a rape of another
woman. These cases were characterized by the Avogadori’s will
of analysing and describing all actions in detail in trials. People
were not dealing with a simple deflowering, but it was an act of

forcing a child to loose her innocence.

The age of the child played an important role, as it defined the
“social perception of the duration of the prepubertal age of
innocence”'?. Before the 1360s, puellae lasted till the child was
twelve years. In the 15™ century, young girls were considered by
the state puellae till thirteen year. The law was not so strict: in
the registers there are puellaec cases, whose victims were
fourteen years old. Even the physical maturity of the girl could

define the borderline between a puella and a girl of marriageable

12 Ibiden, p. 164.
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age. The youngest victim, found in documents of rape cases of

. . 13
children, was “six or seven” ~ years old.

An interesting puella case was the one of the 12-year-old
Catarucia. She was a nun who lived in a convent of Padua.
Pietro Solaro was her brother-in-law and he raped her before her
arrival in the convent. Their relationship continued after
Catarucia became a nun, Pietro’s wife died and the man had
been put in prison because of the five children who were born
from their illicit bound. This case was a mixture of different
crimes: rape of a child and nun, adultery and incest. His penalty
was not overwhelming because he had to remain in jail for three
years, pay a fine to the state of 300 lire and had been banished

from Venice.

Many girls could hope for a better future because the Forty
punished their rapists, imposing them the payment of the girls’

dowry and/or marrying their victims.

1.1.7 - Rape of a Married woman

This crime was considered extremely serious for two different
reasons: first of all, a married woman had more power in this
society because she proved her values and position through her
dowry. Moreover, marriage defined the woman as a piece of
property of her husband, to whom she gave her dowry and her
virginity. Married women were considered less attractive and
incapable of encouraging sexual advances compared to the
unmarried ones. Widows, on the contrary, did not occupy the
same social position as the married women, because their

husbands’ death diminished their importance.

In conclusion, rape cases in Venice were extremely different and

various. Every crime presented different shades, which reflected

" Ibiden, p. 166.
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the councils’ difficulties in finding the right punishment and
solution for the rapist and the victim. Most of the time social
status defined their final choices, which unfortunately were not
always useful to protect the victim and compensate her lost

social dignity.

1.2 - Rome

Between 1602 and 1604, the records of the Roman court showed
that dozens of rape cases had been registered. Most of them
regarded testimonies of non-virgin women, followed by the ones

of some witnesses.

Women belonging to the low social class were less defended
and protected by the Avogadori and the Council of Forty than
the noble ones. Their poverty was perceived as the main means
through which they could obtain a dowry or secure a husband
and a legal marriage. In many cases, their traumatic and
personal experiences are useful to understand not only if they
were using strategies, but also to see how much freedom they

exercised and how they shaped their stories.

The assault was connected with the topic of “shaping”. Every
story showed in different ways a sense of sufferance, connected
to a personal and familial offense and to internal and external
injuries. The rape was “used” by the girls’ families to restore the
social damage of the dishonoured daughters who in most cases
were able to respond independently to every accusation and
question. However, the victims’ language and behaviour
depended on the social custom, the institutional rules and the
personal politics of that time. They had to construct and give the
court a particular image of themselves and of their intentions in

order to better control their situation.

In other cases, young women described themselves and the

situation in a more dramatic way, which was different from what

17



the society and its culture imposed themselves. As Elizabeth
Cohen underlines, this “freedom” showed a first female tentative
of constructing a consciousness of self and of psychological
autonomy'*. This sort of pre-modern identity was defined by a
constant interaction between the social identity and the
individual one. Moreover, young women had to overcome one
of their biggest obstacles in this legal fight: their powerlessness

and poverty.

In that period, this control over women was not to be seen only
under legal circumstances: their entire life was already
organized and strictly handled by the family and the entire
community. One of the main sensitive topics was the virginity
and marriage. In general, the girl’s family used sexuality to
negotiate business with another family or with a man. In Italian
the word “negotiare” was used to define certain sexual and
loveless activities, which were a medium of exchange. Marriage
was seen as an instrument used to “promote the collective social,

13 Tt was celebrated and accepted

economic, or political interest
most of the time, when the young girl was, for all the intents and
purposes, a virgin. Her virginity was difficult to preserve,
especially if the girl in question was from the lower part of the
society, did menial jobs and was exposed to several male
assaults and attentions. It was “the essence of a young girl’s

. 16
virtue”

and it had to be lost only in a legitimate marriage,
decided by the family and the entire community. Through the
virginity, a family could control and protect the young girl.
Being a virgin meant being classified as an honourable woman,
a title that defended the girl from any threat. However, it,

voluntarily or not, would have put the woman and her entire

family in a negative condition of disgrace and shame. This was

'* Elizabeth Cohen, No longer virgins: self-presentation by young women in late Renaissance Rome, in Refiguring
Woman, Perspectives on Gender and the Italian Renaissance, ed. Marilyn Migiel and Juliana Schiesari, (Ithaca: Cornell
University Press, 1991), 171.
" Ibiden, p. 172.
' Ibiden, p. 172.
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the main problem analyzed by the Italian court: it was difficult
to understand how had she been deflowered. Had it been taken
by force or by personal choice? Before, during and after the
trial, some negotiations were made to find a solution in that
particular situation that could restore the lost honour. The
woman could choose between becoming a nun or marrying the

man who had deflowered her.

The girl could still marry another man if she had been able to
obtain a good dowry, which could help economically her future
marriage. In order to do this, the girl’s family required a solution
in front of all the judges, underlining all the grievances and
describing their daughter as respectable person who had been
the unwillingly victim of a rapist. Parents usually asked for a
dowry or for a shotgun wedding. In many cases, these requests
were not even considered because the judges recognized that
many families used their daughters’ defloration as a way to
repair their economical conditions. For this reason, they did not
believe in the victim’s deposition and classified it as a strategy

based on good rhetoric.

In the court, judges had to deal with lies, truths and witnesses.
They had to reconstruct all the episodes, focusing on all the
details of all the testimonies. However, before bringing all the
witnesses, the victim and her rapist in front of the Council of
Forty, some preliminary and private interrogations were made of
all the people who had had a role in that situation or could help
in finding the truth.

The court always wanted for some evidence about the girl’s
virginity, as for example it asked her to report her pain and
bleeding and the same was asked of all the witnesses. The last
ones were important even to collect all the gossips around the
figure of the victim. Female resistance, gifts from the rapist and
a proposal were other fundamental elements, which could help

the girl in being believed by the Council of Forty.
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If it was difficult to confirm the girl’s virginity, judges asked for

a midwife’s opinion through a physical examination.

I.2.1 — Rape Cases

Even though women’s stories varied, all of them shared the
same elements: blood, resistance and male promises. Victims
used to add details and materials to amplify their own
statements. What differed was their language and emphases. In
fact, conventional language was used to describe illicit sexual
encounters, as for example “per forza o per amore”. In many
cases, multiple emotions were entwined to shape behaviours: it
was not surprising to find a story in which attraction and love
played an important role. In addition to this, as it has been
previously underlined, these women were poor and their social
condition did not give them the chance of having a substantial
dowry. For this reason, the rape could have helped them in
having “an immediate material reward than the custodianship of
virginity”'”. On the other hand, all these male attentions would
have compensated all the paternal anger and the community
scorn. Consequently, women had to show that they were aware
of their own sense and of the situation. Judges had to deal with
rape cases of women who acted like passive victims, but in fact
were just participants of a performance, used to obtain an

economical help.

" biden, p. 176.
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1.2.2 —Case of passive victims of assault

Olimpia

This girl used to live with her mother, Marta, a widow, near the
Trevi Fountain. She was in the early teens because she had her
first period in prison, after her arrest. The girl’s description of
the events is clear and detailed, because she wanted the judges
to know everything about her rape without embroideries. She
started her narration saying that she lost her virginity one month
before her arrest. She was alone at her house and she had to take
some fetch water from the cellar. In the mid-time, she saw an
unknown man armed with a sword. He menaced her, entered
with her at her house and closed the door. He assaulted her,
preventing the girl in screaming or talking, covered her face and
threw her on the ground. This man was compared to a devil and

her description of the sexual act was extremely detailed.

“He lifted my skirts, he deflowered me, he made me bleed when
he pushed it up into me. I wanted to shout but I couldn’t because
of the gag, and it hurt me a lot”'®. She added that she had been
incapable of walking for three days, because of the pain that she
had. She tried also not to talk about it to her mother because she
felt a sense of shame, she was aware that what had happened
was something wrong and bad for the family. Moreover, she
feared her mother’s reactions and anger. This secret was so
heavy, that in the end she confessed. After five days, she had
been raped again, but she did not have the chance to see the face
of her rapist, because her face was covered. She was at the
house of a fictive aunt and the latter probably had participated in
this second assault, putting her to bed with this unknown man,

who was attached to the Flemish embassy.

18 “Mi alzo li panni et mi svergino, che mi fece uscire del sangue, che me ce lo mise su, ma io volevo strillere et non
potevo, perché haveva turrata la bocca, et me doleva assai” , Ibiden, p. 178.
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Olimpia decided to talk about her assaults in tribunal because
she wanted to receive a dowry to repair the damage she had
received: “I would say if I could, in order to have a dowry and
not go about in this way and in these clothes”'"”. She associated
her poverty with her personal situation; moreover, she was
aware that if the rapist had been found, she would have to marry

him with better clothes on.

In conclusion, Olimpia showed her feeling of helplessness as a
twice-raped girl, who had been left deflowered and without a
dowry; however, nobody could help her and give her

compensation.

1.2.3 - Case of female consciousness of self

Julia Ligie and her daughter Cecilia

Julia was a widow form Udine, who denounced Martio
Fantuccio of having raped her fourteen years old daughter
Cecilia. Martio was helping Julia with a lawsuit and Cecilia was
charged of exchange some messages between her mother and
him. Martio had pity of them and wanted to hire the girl as his
new personal servant. At first, Cecilia declined the invitation but
than accepted the proposal. She went to his house and had sex
with him. In return, she received a candy and money. When
Julia was aware of this situation, went to the authorities to
denounce what happened, hoping that they would have received
compensation from him. However, her tone used to describe her
personal feeling, in particular the ones related to his mockery,

betrayed the woman.

Moreover, the biggest failure was related to the way mother and

daughter describes the facts.

19 “Io direi per havere la dote, et non andarei a questo modo e con questi vestimenti che porto”, Ibiden .p. 178.
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First of all, Cecilia underlined that she had not been forced in
having a sexual relationship with him and she was neither a
virgin when the private encounter with Martio happened. Her
first lover was Francesco Cecchi, with who she lost her
maidenhead during the last Carnival. She explained that two
women approached her with a proposal: a man was searching
for the services of a virgin and in return, he would have given
her the “most beautiful dresses” as dowry™’. This relationship
was characterized by contrasts: threatening of violence and

shared meals.

Cecilia continued her story, saying that she refused her first

approach but than she made up her own deal.

The week after, she had been invited to have dinner with Martio
and the other two women. After that, she stayed there for the
night and had sex with him. Cecilia described his lovemaking: “I

2l “and after that

jumped out of the bed for the pain it caused me
she cried out loudly, making the servants worried about what
was happening inside Francesco’s room. The latter shouted at
them saying that everything was fine and they did not have to
get inside the room and he went back to bed. Cecilia underlined
that he had her other five times and because of it, the next

morning, the bed was entirely covered of blood and the servants

compared it to a “butchery” (“macello”).

The girl concluded her narration saying that he promised her a
dowry, as sing of gratitude for what happened the previous
night. Moreover, she highlighted that few days after her
defloration, a doctor was visited her and wrote in a document all

the details of her physical situation.

After that, she went back to Francesco’s house, but he denied of

have ever seen her of had a sexual relationship with her. So, he

% Ibiden, p. 181.

21 «Io saltai fuori del letto per il male che mi faceva”, Ibiden, p. 182.
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took back all his obligations and threatened her with a public
whipping. Only Martio kept his promises and paid the girl with

a few scudi and some candies.

Her previous tentative of obtaining money, a dowry and an
husband failed and she had to find another way to re-organize

her future.

This story is an example of how a girl had been able to become
independent and not being used as a pawn of her mother in front
of all the judges. However, the public perceives a sense of
anxiety in her speech, because she needed to explained and
probably even ensure herself that she was a virtuous woman in
intent. Moreover, she knew that all the future events and

arrangements depended on her public speech.

1.2.4 Rape case based on attraction and love

Camilla

Her defloration recalls the one of Olimpia’s, but there is a
difference: the first one had a marital strategy to insure her a
bright future. Her rhetoric had been fundamental to understand

her real goal.

Camilla lived with her mother Antonia next to one of Rome’s
major prisons, Corte Savelli. She had a suitor, Pierfelice di
Terni, a young man who recently moved to the city to apprentice

to a notary. He probably appeared to her as “an eligible mate”?’.

The day of Saint Lucia, she was alone at her house, making the
beds; when the young man entered. He raised the door, ran at
her and hugged her. He promised her that one day they would

get married and she would have become his wife in any case.

22 [biden, p. 187.
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After that, he raised her dress, while the girl protested, begging
him to free her. Camilla did not want him to touch her.

Piefrelice tried to calm her down, repeated her promise and

dissuaded her.

She refused Pierfelice advances and he angrily went home. The
next day, he came back to talk again about their past argument
and his reactions. Even in this case, the girl refused him and
underlined that she would have given herself to the young man
only when he would have asked her sincerely to wed him. They
made love and she lots lot of blood; she even cried out loud
because of the pain felt. He reassured her again, adding that he

wanted to talk about it to her mother.

She concluded saying that nobody noticed their relationship
because the young guy used to frequent her building, because
his aunt lied there. Nobody had ever saw them kissing or

talking.

In her testimony, Camilla highlighted three important elements:
first of all, Piefrelice was the one who forced her in having sex
with him and not the contrary; in second instance, the young
man repeated his promises more than once; and in the end, he
wanted to talk about his desires to her mother, which at that time

was considered a public commitment.

This man was not a devil and obviously he seemed to be in love
with her, differently from all the other rapists seen in the

previous cases.

It was clear that her version of facts was constructed in a perfect

way in order to protect her reputation and maintain self-respect.

However, Camilla did not consider her mother’s testimony. In
fact, the latter underlined that one day, she saw the couple
talking in her house and her arrival interrupted their
conversation. The man fled and Camilla had to explain

everything to her angry mother. The latter constantly repeated
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that Pierfelice had ruined her daughter and her family. This
encounter was considered by her as a betrayal and she
immediately sent her daughter to the hospital of Santo Spirito to
have a mid-wife’s examination. Only after that, Camilla had to
reveal the truth to her mother. This testimony had destroyed the

perfect version of the young girl, who lost her credibility.

In the end, the two women and Pierfelice went under torture to

verify their statements and find the truth.

In conclusion, it is evident that all these stories were different
one with the other; however, this variety was characterised by an
amount of conventional statements that depended on the

2 In addition to

“powerful cultural norms and legal practices
this, these strategies together with women’s ambition and
emotional rhetoric, gave to them the chance of maintaining an
individual posture in front of the judges. Unfortunately for them,
poverty and powerlessness were the two main obstacles that, a
priori, put women in a position of lack of credibility and the

external pressure forced them to act for themselves.

23 [biden, p. 191.
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11

Artemisia Gentileschi: “the modern Judith”

II. 1 - Judith, Artemisia and Orazio Gentileschi

Judith played an important role in Artemisia Gentileschi's

life, not only because it was one of the favourite subjects painted
by this famous female artist, but also because she was extremely
connected with the beginning of a long trial, which
characterized a hard and difficult path of Gentileschi's life.
This woman had been a victim of sexual violence. She had been
raped at the age of 19 by one of the colleagues and closest
friends of her father Orazio Gentileschi, named Agostino Tassi.
Everything happened in May 1611. Orazio Gentileschi
denounced Tassi in a begging letter to the pope Paul the V one
year later, asking for a punishment and the restore of his family
pride. How is this possible, considering the fact that her
daughter acquainted him about the incident few days after it
happened? What is the connection between this triangle and
Judith?

Eva Mazio's book “Artemisia Gentileschi LETTERE —
precedute da Atti di un processo per stupro” gives us the
possibility to reconstruct all the main events happened before
and after the two main trials in the Roman court and to recollect
all the witnesses' testimonies.

It starts with the begging letter of Orazio:
“Beatissimo Padre Horatio Gentileschi Pittore, humilissimo
servo della Santita Vostra, con ogni reverentia Le narra come
per mezzo et a persuasione di Donna Tutia sua pigionante; una
figliola del’oratore ¢ stata forzatamente sverginata et
carnalmente conosciuta piu volte da Agostino Tassi pittore et
intrinseco amico et compagno del’oratore, escendosi anche
intromesso in questo negotio osceno Cosimo Quorli suo furiere;

Intendendo oltre allo sverginamento, che il medesimo Cosimo
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furiere con sua chimera habbia cavato dalle mane della
medesima zittella alcuni quadri di pittura di suo padre et
inspecie una luditta di capace grandezza; Et perché, Beatissimo
Padre, questo ¢ un fatto cosi brutto et commesso in cosi grave et
enorme lesione e danno del povero oratore et massime sotto fede
di amicitia che del tutto si rende assassinamento et anco
commesso da una persona solita commettere peggio delitti di
questo, essendoci stato fautore il detto Cosimo Quorli. Pero
genuflesso alli sua Santi piedi la supplica in visceribus Christi a
provedere a cosi brutto escesso con li debiti termini di giustizia
contro a chi si spetta, perché oltre al farne gratia segnalatissima,
ella sara causa che il povero supplicante non mettera in rovina li
altri suoi figliuoli et gliene preghera sempre da Dio giustissima
ricompensa. Ci...alla Santita di Nostro Signore...per Horatio

Gentileschi Pittore.”**

Translation:

Most blessed Father, the painter Horatio Gentileschi, very
humble servant of Your Holiness, tells you, with every
reverence, how the close friend and fellow worker of the orator,
the painter Agostino Tassi, through the persuasion of Donna
Tuzia, has forcefully deflowered and has known carnally more
than once the orator's daughter. Even Your quartermaster
Cosimo Furiere has taken part to this horrible business, trying
not only to deflower her, but also with his chimera he stole from
the spinster's hands some paintings of her father, in particular a
big size one of Judith. This is an unpleasant and serious act,
which caused damage to the poor orator and destroyed this
friendship. Moreover, this supporter Cosimo Quorli used to

commit worse crimes.

* Eva Manzio; “Artemisia Gentileschi Lettere precedute da Atti di un processo per stupro”; Abscondita; Milano; 2015;
p-11.
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Praying on bended knee in front of His holiness, I beg You
in visceribus Christi to provide a fair punishment where credit is
due, because besides receiving Your grace, it will not ruin the
reputation of this poor supplicant's sons and the latter will
always be grateful to God for this right reward.

To the Holiness of our Lord...for the painter Horatio Gentileschi.

This letter shows an important mix between the grudge and
the destroyed honour of Orazio Gentileschi, which concerns two
different personal offences: the rape of her daughter and a
strange case of robbery of paintings, both committed by
Agostino Tassi and Cosimo Quorli. Orazio Gentileschi seems to
give more importance to this second fact than the first one. It
seems that this robbery can not even be compared to his
daughter's rape and that his role as a painter was more important
than being a good and respectable father. In fact, in this letter,
we can see that 13 lines out of 26 are used by Orazio to talk
about his serious artistic loss; while only 5 out of 26 concern the
real reason of this denouncement, which will bring Artemisia
into the Roman court. In addiction to this, in these 13 lines there
are some clues that make clear that this is a personal revenge in
order to have back his paintings. An example that can justify
this concept can be found in the part in which he talks about the
destruction of his friendship with Quorli. Gentileschi uses the
words “assassinamento fattomi”, giving the idea that loosing a
painting in that way was like “being killed” by this man. He is
not talking about the murder of her daughter's virginity and
purity, which was the real cause of the trial.

Why did he wait one year to denounce the rape? Readers
can think that Orazio probably preferred keep this entire
situation as a secret to not loose his family honour. Some critics
believe that Orazio hoped for a marriage between Artemisia and
Agostino, but the latter refused this possibility. Moreover, from

his testimony, we can imagine that only after a long time did he
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discover another part of the plan concocted by the couple Tassi
— Quorli, which attacked him personally. So, considering his
request to the pope, it is possible that he took his own revenge
on his new enemies and used the rape of Artemisia as an excuse
to punish them and have his paintings back.

Moreover, Orazio knew that this trial would impose on
Artemisia different types of violence, from which she suffered
not only physically but also psychologically. Artemisia was
already seen in a negative way because she was a female
painter: it was rare to see a woman working in order to gain
economical independence and social recognitions. This trial put
her more under the spotlight; from that moment on, she will be
often accused of living a dishonest life and having a busy love
life. She had to prove and convince everyone that her previous
statements were true. For this reason, she forcefully underwent
some gynaecological examinations in the presence of all the
judges; she suffered the torture of the Sybille and was
confronted with corrupted people, who have been paid to tell
lies.

In addiction to this, after one month from the conclusion of
the trial, Artemisia married Pietro Antonio Stiattesi®. After
Agostino was released, Orazio got back in touch with him;
another proof that he preferred his work interests to his

daughter's reputation.

I1.2 - Artemisia - Orazio — Agostino

In 1611, Artemisia was a honourable maiden, who lived in

Rome with her father Orazio and her three little brothers

25 Pietro Antonio Stiattesi was a painter probably related to one of the major witnesses of this trial Giovan Battista
Stiattesi. However, this marriage was perceived as shotgun one, celebrated in the Santo Spirito church in Sassia. After
that, Artemisia moved with her husband to Florence not only to forget what happened in Rome months before, but also
to cut her relationship with her overwhelming father. They had four sons: Giovanni Battista, Cristofano, Prudenzia, who
followed her mother's artistic path, and Lisabella. Their marriage had several moments of crisis. Gentileschi left
Florence and came back to Rome, not only because her relationship with Cosimo II de Medici got worse, but also
because her husband collected a series of debts due to his luxurious life and she had an extramarital affair with a
gentleman, Francesco Maria Maringhi, which raised a scandal.

30



Francesco, Giulio and Marco. Rome presented itself as a highly
insecure and uncertain place in which a child could grow up.
She lived in Rione of Campomarzio, a quarter characterized by a
swarming of nationalities and occupations. As Elizabeth Cohen
declares that many artists lived there, however many people

26 other lived there for years, like the

“resided only temporary
Gentileschi family and were wont to move from a house to
another. This part of the city was also occupied by a large
number of prostitutes; it was not difficult to see men searching
for company or for a brawl. Residents had to be protected by the
Roman government through extended orders and laws created to
improve and assure personal security. For this reason, the
Gentileschis were subjected to many codes of moral and social
conduct. One of them was a set of social obligations towards
nubile women. In that period, parents had to combine their
grown daughters with men through a convenient marriage.
Elizabeth Cohen underlines that “this duty imposed two often
difficult tasks: locating an eligible and willing bridegroom and
providing a dowry that often strained the family's resources™”’.
Another important duty that a woman had to fulfil before getting
married was being a chaste virgin. Fathers had yet another
important role: safeguarding their daughters' virginity. The best
ways to do this were: locking them in their houses, even though
it turned out to be a double-edged sword because isolating the
girl would make it harder for her to snag a husband; and
forbidding them to walk alone on the streets and being instead

supervised by another man of the family, who generally was a

brother or another male member of it.

Artemisia’s personal situation was extremely delicate,
because she was the only daughter of the Gentileschi family,

who had a pictorial circle. For this reason, she used to meet

26 Elizabeth Cohen; The trial of Artemisia Gentileschi: A Rape as History; Sixteen Century Journal; 2000; p.56.

27 Ibiden, p.57.
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some of her father's colleagues. Orazio Gentileschi was
considered a great painter and was appreciated everywhere in
Rome. He worked for many important people, for example the
Pope Gregorio XIII or Sisto V, in order to decorate the walls of
the Sistine Library and of the Sistine chambers. He had been a
friend of Caravaggio, major inspiration for the Tuscan painter.
He also used real models in his paintings, without idealizing or
sweetening them, in order to show the power of the real drama

and tragedy of life.

When she was a little child, Artemisia was so fascinated by
the ability of her father that she wanted to enter the artistic
world in order to emulate him. Her father became her teacher
and a personal point of reference, who was able to maximize her
daughter's abilities. He introduced her to his world, teaching her
how to prepare all the instruments used in order to create
paintings as for example the colours' grinding; the oils'
extraction and purification; the packing of brushes with bristles
and animal hair; the resettlement of canvas and the reduction of
the pigments into powder. In order to improve her artistic
abilities, she copied her father's xylographies and paintings, as

well as some incisions of Albrecht Durer.

Painting was considered at that time a path that could be
taken only by men. For this reason, Artermisia could not receive
the same education of her father and his colleagues; however,
Orazio recognized that her daughter was extremely talented,
more that her brothers. She also took other responsibilities as for
example taking care of her family and the house; she had lost
her mother, Prudentia di Ottaviano Montoni, in 1605, two days
from her baptism in the church of San Lorenzo in Lucina, at the

age of 12.

In 1608-1609, her relationship with her father became a sort
of apprenticeship; she started to collaborate with Orazio in the

creation or conclusion of some paternal paintings and
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subsequently, she started to create her own ones as proof of

having assimilated all her master's lessons.

In the pictorial circle founded by Orazio, there was

" a 30 years old

Agostino Tassi>, know as “Lo Smargiasso
artist of thirty years old with an ambiguous talent. On one hand,
he was a traditionalist, virtuous Mannerist, who painted using
the so-called “trompe-l'oeil” perspective; on the other hand, he
was also extremely appreciated for his creation of realistic airy
and essential landscapes, such as the seascape. Orazio requested
him to teach her daughter how to construct and create a perfect

perspective in her paintings. This is one of the major reasons

why Tassi moved around Artemisia's house.

Orazio and Agostino worked together in the creation of a

fresco for the Cardinal Borghese at Monte Cavallo.

Orazio Gentileschi and Agostino Tassi, Ceiling Fresco in the Casino delle Muse in the Palazzo Pallavicini Rospigliosi,

Rome c.1611. (1a)

28 “Tassi” was not the real surname of this man; the real one was “Buonamici”. His job as a painter, gave him the
chance to change his plebeian surname into one of an old patron. Eva Manzio; “Artemisia Gentileschi Lettere precedute
da Atti di un processo per stupro”; Article of Anne-Marie Boetti “Nota su un affresco”, Abscondita; Milano; 2015;
p.131.

29 “Smargiasso” is an Italian name, which stands for a person who boasts to have some qualities that he does not have in
the reality, or to be able to do things, act, survive situations, even though he does not. Synonym: boaster; braggart. In
this case, this word was used as an epithet in order to define the behaviour of this man.
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The entire project was attributed to Tassi. This presents an
illusionist perspective, which “breaks” the ceiling through high
vaults and grisaille balconies, which remind us the dawn. Orazio
intervened in the representation of the human characters, all
metaphors of the life's “concert”: all the musical instruments
play and the beautiful female musicians lean out of the boards of
the balcony, laughing at the public. This project started in the
spring 1611 and finished in the summer of the same year. One
year later, the scandal burst. Anne-Marie Boetti in her essay
“Nota su un affresco” offers an interesting analysis of this fresco
and its connection with the rape of Artemisia. She highlights an
important detail, which could clarify this intricate triangle
Artemisia — Agostino — Orazio. As the particulars of this fresco
(1a) show, in the group represented, there is one woman who is

depicted twice by Orazio Gentileschi (1b); (1¢).

(1b) Particular of the fresco Casino delle Muse, “Artemisia and the fan”; O. Gentileschi (c.1611).
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(Ic) Particular of the fresco Casino delle Muse; O. Gentileschi (c. 1611).

These facial features are the ones of Artemisia, who was not
only his daughter, but also his confidant. He showed to his
colleague how his daughter was, her beauty, her body, her
expressions, everything that was hidden behind the walls of his
house. She seems to be treated as a good of Orazio’s, who is
envied by his friend Agostino. The latter worked for months
with these two images of this beautiful woman, who was
looking at him and probably augmented his desire for her and

his male imagination every single day passed in this balcony.

In the first detail (2), Artemisia is depicted as a young, stout,
beautiful woman, looking motionless, with an open fan and a
provocative sway of her hips. She does not consider the black
man behind her, who is following her. The second image (3)
shows only a mysterious visage of the woman, crossed by the
strings of the harp in front of her. Anne-Marie Boetti suggests a
possible metaphorical lecture of this image. She compares the
sign of these strings on Artemisia's face to three different
elements: firstly, to the instrument's strings that will torture her
in the Roman court the year after; secondly, to the prison's bars

in which Tassi will be put during and after the trial, and thirdly,
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to the tears that will mark Artemisia's face, after having

discovered the double betrayal™.

These two representations of the same woman have many
traits in common: chubby checks, the slander corners of the
mouth and a lonely and proud gaze. Could these two images
have been a mean through which Tassi had increased his
personal interest on Artemisia? Obviously, this question will
remain unanswered. However, it opens an interesting gateway to
the interpretation of the beginning of Agostino's unhealthy

interest for Artemisia, which took him to rape her.

I1.3 - The trial: Artemisia's testimony

The trail began on March 1612 and lasted for seven months,
during which the judges had to hear different contradictory
testimonies. As Elizabeth Cohen underlines, people “were
pressed to tell a story that conformed to the categories of law
and withstood the rigours of judicial inquiry. In the end, the
judges heard a cacophony of sincere assertions, naive

dissimulations, wily plausibilities, and stonewalling lies®'.

This case had been classified under the name of “stuprum”,
which meant being violently deflowered without the woman's
consent; Artemisia had to prove that she had been subjected to
physical violence and many people betrayed her (Agostino
Tassi; Tuzia and Cosimo Quorli) and organized the rape.
Artemisia's statements in the court were not enough for the
judges, because they had to have some physical proofs about the

loss of her hymen, through the examination of two different

30 “Tuna strana premonizione ha “tatuato” il viso con corde dello strumento: il segno delle orrende cordicelle della
verita che durante il processo tortureranno le sue dita? Le sbarredella prigione del Tassi, che sara un po' sua? Le lacrime
che solcheranno il suo viso, per I'amarezza del doppio tradimento?”. Eva Manzio; “Artemisia Gentileschi Lettere
precedute da Atti di un processo per stupro”; Article of Anne-Marie Boetti “Nota su un affresco”, Abscondita; Milano;
2015; p.134.

31 Elizabeth Cohen; The trial of Artemisia Gentileschi: A Rape as History; Sixteen Century Journal; 2000; p.56.
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midwives and submitting her to a direct confrontation with her
rapist, followed by a physical torture. Moreover, she had to
highlight the fact that she never gave her own consent to a
sexual relationship with Tassi and that she had fought to defend
herself.

On the 28" of March 1612, Francesco Bulgarello
interrogated Artemisia for the first time concerning her
relationship with Agostino Tassi and the rape. She always
answered every single question, describing the events' sequence
with clarity and dignity. She began showing a general ignorance
about the main reason behind that interrogatory. However, she
could imagine it: a few days before, Tuzia di Stefano Medaglia,
who lived in the second floor of her house, had been arrested.
Moreover, she accused her of being in league with Agostino in
order to organize her rape: “she made a deal against me in order

3 When Tuzia moved in there, she

to organise deflower me
immediately established a friendship with “lo Smargiasso”.
Around the beginning of May 1611, Tuzia tried to persuade
Artemisia to get to know Agostino because of his polite and
gentle nature and his good company. Once the latter tried to gain
her trust, revealing a secret about what one of the Gentileschi’s
servants, Francesco Scarpellino, was saying behind her back: he
had deflowered her’*. Artemisia was not upset at all, because

she knew what the truth was and the lies did not bother her. On

the contrary, Agostino cared a lot about her honour.

Tuzia was not the only one who tried to persuade Artemisia.
Cosimo Quorli bothered her with his advices concerning the

acceptance of Agostino's courtship; encouraging her to gave

32 The Gentileschi's house was in Spirito Santo street, in Sassia. Tuzia started to frequent the Gentileschis in 1611; when

Orazio found her entertaining her daughter. He was so much pleased about this female company that asked to Tuzia and

her family to move to his second floor and becoming neighbours.

33 “Ha trattato contra di me un tradimento tenendo mano a farmi vituperare” Eva Manzio; “Artemisia Gentileschi

Lettere precedute da Atti di un processo per stupro”; Abscondita; Milano; 2015; p. 16.

34 “Agostino lui mi disse che detto Francesco s'andava vantando ch'io gli havessi daro quel che lui haveva voluto”. Eva

Manzio; “Artemisia Gentileschi Lettere precedute da Atti di un processo per stupro”; Abscondita; Milano; 2015; p.17.
37



herself to Agostino, also because to him she was already a non-

virgin, who used to have many lovers™.

In the following day, Orazio, unaware of the situation,
suggested Tuzia to bring Artemisia to San Giovanni Church.
There, they met Agostino and Cosimo. After the mass, Tassi
insisted in vain on walking her home and in the end was forced
to follow her from afar. Arrived at her house, Agostino
complained about her lack of interest towards him; threatened
her saying that she would have paid for it and he went away .
In the same day, after lunch, Artemisia was depicting a portrait
of one of Tuzia's children. The masons, who were working
inside the room, left the door open and Agostino entered. He
ordered Tuzia to leave them alone; while Artemisia begged her
to do the contrary. Tassi took the palette out of her hands and
leaned his head on her breast, asking her to take a walk inside
the room. Tuzia went outside, leaving the couple alone. After
the third round of the room, they reached the door; he locked it
and pushed her in the bed. He put one of his hands on her breast
and the other was on the mouth, blocking any her tentative of
screaming and one of his knee was between her legs, in order to
prevent her from closing them. He heaved her dress and pushed
violently his member inside hers, while she was trying to ask for
an help. Artemisia tried to defend herself and with difficulty,
scratched his face, tore his hair and before he could put his
member inside her again, the young woman had been able to
remove a piece of skin from it. Despite all, he continued hurting
her. When the sexual assault was over, Artemisia took a knife
and threatened Agostino to kill him. He challenged her, opening

his jacket and waiting for her reaction. She tried to stab him, but

35 “N'avete dato a tanti ne potete dar'anco a lui”. Eva Manzio; “Artemisia Gentileschi Lettere precedute da Atti di un
processo per stupro”; Abscondita; Milano; 2015; p. 17.

36 “[..] e comincio a lamentarsi ch'io mi portavo male di lui e che non li volevo bene dicendomi che me ne sarei
pentitaf ...]” . Eva Manzio; “Artemisia Gentileschi Lettere precedute da Atti di un processo per stupro”; Abscondita;
Milano; 2015; p. 18.
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he blocked the blow, even though he had been scratched a little.
Tassi tried to calm her a little, taking her hand and promising her
that he would married her one day. Artemisia underlined that his
words convinced her to give herself several times in the past

year of their relationship’.

Another important question that Francesco Bulgarello asked
her was about the broken hymen. Artemisia explained that in
that moment she was on her period, so she had already a loss of
blood, however she noticed that its colour became intense and
darker than the usual one. Artemisia could have lied to all the
judges about her deflowering, saying that effectively she had
lost a lot of blood and could have added many other details in
order to increase the negative reputation of Tassi. However, she
did not do anything like this at all, which could be a
confirmation about the truth of her testimony and this could
have gained judges' trust. The latter had some problems in order
to believe her completely and considering it as a real case of
rape. Her story needed to satisfy two evidential requirements for
“stuprum”: demonstrating her previous virginity and proving her
refusal to give her own free consent to the man. In the first case,
Artemisia highlighted the fact of being on her period at the
moment of the assault, which prevented to have a clear vision

about this situation. For this reason, another instrument was the

37 “Serro la camera a chiave e dopo serrata mi butto su la sponda del letto dandomi con una mano sul petto, mi mise un
ginocchio fra le cosce ch’io non potessi serrarle et alzatomi li panni, che ci fece grandissima fatiga per alzarmeli, mi
mise una mano con un fazzoletto alla gola et alla bocca accio non gridassi e le mani quali prima mi teneva con ’altra
mano mi le lasciod, havendo esso prima messo tutti doi li ginocchi tra le mie gambe et appuntendomi il membro alla
natura comincio a spingere e lo mise dentro che io mi sentivo che m'incedeva forte e mi faceva un gran male che per lo
impedimento che mi teneva alla bocca non potevo gridare, pure cercavo di strillare meglio che potevo chiamando Tuzia.
E gli sgraffignai il viso e gli strappai li capelli et avanti che lo mettesse dentro anco gli detti una matta stretta al membro
che gli ne levai anco un pezzo di carne, con tutto cio lui non stimo niente e continuo a fare il fatto suo che mi stette un
pezzo addosso tenendomi il membro dentro la naturae doppo che ebbe fatto il fatto suo mi si levo da dosso et io
vedendomi libera andai alla volta del tiratoio della tavola e presi un cortello et andai verso Agostino dicendo: “Ti voglio
ammazzare con questo cortello che tu m'hai vittuperata”. Et esso aprendosi il gippone disse: “Eccomi qua”, et io li tirai
con il cortello che lui si ripard altrimenti gli havrei fatto male et facilemente ammazzantolo;con tutto cio lo ferii un poco
nel petto e gli usci del sangue che era poco perche a fatiga I'havevo arrivato con la punta del cortello. All'hora poi detto
Agostino si allaccio il gippone et io stavo piangendo e dolendomi del torto che m'haveva fatto et esso per acquietarmi
disse: “Avvertite che pigliandovi non volgio vanita” et io gli risposi: “Io credo che vediate se ci sono vanit:
questa buona promessa mi riaquietai e con questa promessa anco me l'ha piu volte riconfermata; [...]” Eva Manzio;
“Artemisia Gentileschi Lettere precedute da Atti di un processo per stupro”; Abscondita; Milano; 2015; pp./9-20.
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midwife's checkup. Two midwives, Diambra and Donna
Catherina, did a gynaecological examination to confirm her
deflowering. The results were not satisfactory at all because a lot
of time had passed from the sexual assault and it was difficult to

determine the exact moment of when it had happened.

Artemisia added other details about her relationship with
Tassi. First of all, she underlined that all the their sexual
relationships had happened only inside her house. Tuzia helped
him to come in, leaving open the door that separated the two
apartments. According to the analysis of the complex system of
the Roman “Honour codes” of the XVIth century, Elizabeth
Cohen explains that being raped and having a stable sexual
relationship in the woman's house would have worsened the

situation and compromised the honour of the entire family’®,

Artemisia made it clear that Tassi had an obsession for her. He
often came in Tuzia's house just to check on her and on what she
was doing. In public places, he never remained alone with her,
except for two different situations. The first one happened in the
road to San Giovanni. She was going to leave in her carriage
with other people: her aunt Virginia, Tuzia and her children;
when Tassi stopped it and got in it together with another man,
sir Antonio. He asked to the coachman to change direction to
Saint Paul. There they spent sometime together. In the way to go
back, Tassi got out of it with his friend next to Sisto Bridge. The
second meeting happened during the last Carnival, at Cosimo
Quorli's house, where everyone was invited. There Cosimo and
his wife managed to find a room in the apartment downstairs

where they could have had some space alone and could have

38 Elizabeth Cohen; The trial of Artemisia Gentileschi: A Rape as History; Sixteen Century Journal; 2000; p.58.
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taken advantage from the situation®. Cosimo guarded the door

and prevent Orazio to figure them out.

Before concluding her testimony, the inquisitors asked her
to talk about her relationship with Cosimo Quorli. She confessed
that the only man with who she had a sexual relationship was
Agostino, while with Cosimo there had been a different
approach. Before and after the rape, Quorli tried many times
invain to have a physical approach with this woman. She
reposed a particular situation that had happened few hours after
having been deflowered by Agostino. Cosimo went to her house
and forced Artemisia to have sex with him, but he failed. Before
leaving the Gentileschi's house, he threatened the young girl by
saying that he would have spread the voice about a sexual
relationship between them; he wanted to boast about it. For this
reason, Agostino, who believed in this lie, decided to break all

. .40
his promises™.

Bulgarello asked Artemisia if she had ever received any
presents or money as price for having had a sexual relationship
with him. The young woman always denied this: the main
reason of keeping alive their bound was his promise of marrying
her. The only present that she had received from him was a pair
of earrings received on Christmas day. In exchange, Artemisia

gave him twelve handkerchiefs*'.

Before concluding this interview, she warned Bulgarello

about a pact that Tassi, Quorli and Tuzia had made before the

39 “Vostro danno se non havete fatto il fatto vostro”. Eva Manzio; “Artemisia Gentileschi Lettere precedute da Atti di un
processo per stupro”; Abscondita; Milano; 2015; p. 21.

40 «Signor no ch'io non ho havuto mai che trattare carnalmente con alcuna persona altro che con detto Agostino. E' ben
vero che Cosmo ha fatto tutte le sue forze per havermi innanzi e doppo che havevo havuto che fare con Agostino e fece
tutte le sue forze per volermi sforzare ma non gli riusci e perch'io non volsi consentirci lui disse ch'in ogni modo se ne
voleva vantare e lo voleva dire con tutti, si come ha fatto con infinite persone e particolarmente con il fratello chiamato
Giovan Battista e la sua cognata et anco con Agostino che per questo sdegno si ¢ retirato di volermi pigliare”, Eva
Manzio; “Artemisia Gentileschi Lettere precedute da Atti di un processo per stupro”’; Abscondita; Milano; 2015; p. 22.

I “Detto Agostino non m'ha mai donato cosa alcuna percheé io non I'ho voluto perché quello che facevo seco lo facevo
solo che m'havesse a sposare vedendomi da lui vituperata, eccetto che in questo Natale mi diede un paro di orecchini
per mancia et io detti a lui dodici fazzoletti.” Eva Manzio; “Artemisia Gentileschi Lettere precedute da Atti di un
processo per stupro”; Abscondita; Milano; 2015; p. 22.
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first was put in prison. Pietro Rinaldi, a painter and friend of
Artemisia, heard them talking and agreeing on what to say at

court, if all of them would have been imprisoned**.

Analysing the first and the only testimony of Artemisia, we
do not find weak woman, but a person who is extremely aware
of all the consequences brought by the rape and the trial. As
Elizabeth Cohen highlights, judging from the way in which
Artemisia talked in her interrogatory, it seemed that the sexual
assault had not had a bodily or psychological impact on her: she
focused more on the social aspects connected to her persona.
Obviously, being violently deflowered had brought her a strong
physical pain: the evening of the rape, Orazio saw her daughter
lying on her bed complaining about not feeling well. Yet,
Artemisia seemed to care much more about the fact that she was
a respectable and admired professional woman, not a libertine
who wanted to disrespect her father, her family and obviously
her future. She tried even during the direct confrontation with
Tassi, during which she was submitted to “La Tortura della
Sibilla”, the Torture of the Sybil, to defend herself and her
dignity as a violated woman and to prove that the man who

promised her marriage and real love had mocked her.

Her report contains all the proofs that were needed to
classify this case as “stuprum”. There is not only an attempt to
convince the judges about the loss of the hymen, describing the
blood colour and the physical pain felt in that moment; she also
underlined her will to resist Tassi's aggression (scratches,
hurting his member and threatening him with a knife). In
addition to this, Agostino's promise of marrying this woman and

his obsessed interest in her private life and acquaintances was

#2«[...] la sera innanzi che Agostino fosse preso preggiore venne con Cosmo da Tutia e tutti e tre insieme s'accordorno

et instruirno di quello che dovevano dire se fossero stati presi che cosi m'ha detto il mio compare chiamato Pietro
Rinaldi pittore.” Eva Manzio; “Artemisia Gentileschi Lettere precedute da Atti di un processo per stupro”; Abscondita;
Milano; 2015; p. 22.
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another important piece of evidence. Yet, another interesting
aspect was her denial of having had any sexual relationship with
any other man, as for example Cosimo Quorli. All these
elements had to be present in the confession of a rape victim;
they lent credibility to the woman and augmented the possibility
to be indemnified for the loss of this important social and
physical asset, the hymen. Women were indemnified through a
dowry that could restore their family name or by forcing to the

victim to marry her rapist or another man.

If the judges caught signs of love in the victim's words
towards the rapist, she was considered culpable because she was
emotionally involved in this relationship. Moreover, in this
patriarchal society and in all cases of “stuprum”, women were
considered a priori culpable: they did not have the same right as
men did and even from a religious point of view, they
represented the weaker sex and the main expression of
temptation for men in this world. If women were victims of
rape, the latter happened because basically they wanted and

caused it.

Premarital defloration happened without consent of the
woman, as if Artemisia's case, followed by a promise of
marriage, put the rapist in a situation in which he had to honour
his commitment, maintain alive his relationship with the woman
and marry her. Elizabeth Cohen highlights the fact that this “loss
could sometimes be made good”, because “if promises of
marriage were made in private accompanied by sex, [...] for

many, it was part of courtship”*’.

'

However, Artemisia 's testimony shows a bigger
disappointment towards the betrayal of Tuzia than the one of

Tassi. Apparently, the Gentileschi's tenant was not an ally of

# Elizabeth Cohen; The trial of Artemisia Gentileschi: A Rape as History; Sixteen Century Journal; 2000; p.58.
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Artemisia, as she thought, she had organized the rape together

with Agostino and Cosimo.

I1.3.1 - Tuzia ' s testimonies

Francesco Bulgarello and Porzio Camerarlo have
interrogated Tuzia twice, on the 2" and on the 23" of March in
the prison of Tor di Nona, about her relationship with the victim
and the rapist. In the first interrogatory, she immediately
underlined that she was unaware of the reason of her
imprisonment. During the previous year, she had been living in
the apartment above the Gentileschis in the Santo Spirito house
with her husband and their children. Orazio, who appreciated
her friendship with his daughter, the spinster Artemisia,
requested Tuzia. He was happy that the latter found somebody
with who she could spend her time. Tuzia did not deny the fact
that during this “cohabitation”, she used to pass lot of time

together with Artemisia; working in her room and vice versa.

Orazio had many friends. Tuzia referred in particular to
Agostino, the painter, with who Orazio worked together in many
projects and Cosimo Quorli. They used to go out together and
sometimes they kept early hours. She does not hide the fact that
both men used to come to his house, even when Orazio was
absent. Artemisia always talked to them and never refused their
company*. Tuzia underlined that it was Agostino who came
frequently at her house. When Orazio was at home, he passed
the time looking at how they practice painting and he cared
showing his affection towards this family and in particular

towards the young woman®. When Orazio had to go away, he

# «Signor si che molte volte quando li detti Agostino et Cosmo sono venuti a casa di detto Horatio e si sono trattenuti
ivi la Signora Artemisia gl'ha parlato e gl'ha visti”. Eva Manzio; “Artemisia Gentileschi Lettere precedute da Atti di un
processo per stupro”; Abscondita; Milano; 2015; p. 28.

#¢[...] e perché Artemisia stava 1a gitl a basso nelle sue stanze lui andava git alla porta che risponde nelle sue stanze
per vedere quel che facevano lei e suo padre mostrava di voler gran bene ad Artemisia...le voleva gran bene e che per lei
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asked Tuzia to take care of Artemisia; update him about visitors
and persuade Artemisia of becoming a nun and giving up on any
idea of getting married. Tuzia tried to convince her about it, but

Artemisia never wanted to get into the subject.

In the second interrogatory, Tuzia added few important
details about Artemisia's relationship with Tassi, which the
young girl interpreted as betrayal. She talked about few
occasions in which Artemisia used to go out with her, focusing
in particular on the episodes happened in San Giovanni and in
San Paolo. In their journey to San Giovanni, Artemisia’s aunt
Virginia and older brother, Francesco, accompanied the two
women. Once arrived there, Artemisia immediately recognized
Agostino and Cosimo and wanted to leave immediately the
church and stay with them®. Tuzia accepted. The young girl
never remained alone with the two men; on the contrary, she

walked keeping a certain distance from them.

In the road to San Paolo, they were travelling in a carriage
with the young woman's brothers and other three people: the
spinster Faustina, Lucrezia and Diego, when Agostino appeared
with one of his friends. He stopped the carriage and went in.
Artemisia knew that something was happening behind her
father's back and she feared about the future consequences. On
the contrary, Agostino did not care about the present situation®’
and ordered the coachman to go to San Paolo. Before arriving
there, Artemisia went out of the carriage. Agostino and her
brothers followed her. Tassi approached to the young woman,
walking one next to the other, while her brothers were playing

on the streets. The group reunited only inside the church. On the

e suo padre havria messa la vita.”. Eva Manzio; “Artemisia Gentileschi Lettere precedute da Atti di un processo per

stupro”’; Abscondita; Milano; 2015; p. 28.

o «r . JArtemisia mi disse: “Guardate un poco la ecco la Agostino et Cosmo andiamoci con Dio”[...]” . Eva Manzio;

“Artemisia Gentileschi Lettere precedute da Atti di un processo per stupro”; Abscondita; Milano; 2015; p. 29.

7 “Voglio entrar ancor'io in tutti I modi e non mi curo che tuo padre lo sappia, anzi havrei caro che mi ci trovasse”. Eva

Manzio; “Artemisia Gentileschi Lettere precedute da Atti di un processo per stupro”; Abscondita; Milano; 2015; p. 30.
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way back, Agostino and his friend got off the carriage in a little

square next to Sisto Bridge.

Tuzia also describes the strong attachment that Agostino felt
for Artemisia. She highlights that everywhere they wanted to go,
Tassi followed them. Artemisia was his only thought and most
of the time he got upset if Tuzia prevented him in having a close
encounter with Artemisia. In fact, Tuzia refused more than once
to open her door and let him in. Tassi reacted violently because
he believed that another man was with Artemisia and Tuzia was
protecting her. Tuzia was so afraid of this reaction that she had
to open the door and show him that nobody was inside the

48
house™.

Tuzia also talked about the day of the rape. Tassi entered in
Artemisia' s room while she was portraying one of Tuzia's sons.
The latter decided to go back to her house with her children,
leaving Agostino and Artemisia alone with her brothers. The
inquisitors asked her if she ever saw Agostino with some
scratches on his face or with some little wounds. She gave a
vague answer, underlining that she saw Agostino's face full of
scratches and sometimes his eyes were even livid, however she

could not remind the exact moment of when he got them™

She continued saying that she saw Agostino and Artemisia
alone in her room more than once. In some cases, she was lying
in her bed naked and next to her there was him, with his clothes
on. They were caught laughing to each other. Tuzia underlined
that she tried to intervene in many occasions, telling her off

because that behaviour was not acceptable. Artemisia's answer

* “Insomma Signore non si poteva dare un passo in compagnia di Artimitia che Agostino sempre non li fosse appresso,
si quando s'andava alla messa come anco quando s'andava in altri luoghi; et Agostino per cosi dire spiritava di Artimitia
e tribulava me quando non poteva havere commodita di entrar a parlare ad Artimitia e bussava alla mia porta che delle
volte recusavo di aprirli e detto Agostino diceva ch'io c'havevo introdotto qualch'uno da Artimitia e bravava di far e dir
et io per paura poi gl'aprivo et anco perché si chiarisse della verita che li non ci veniva nessuno.”. Eva Manzio;
“Artemisia Gentileschi Lettere precedute da Atti di un processo per stupro”; Abscondita; Milano; 2015; p. 31.
# «Signor si ch'io ho visto non so che volte il Signor Agostino con il mostaccio sgraffignato et alle volte con gli occhi
lividi e non mi ricordo di che tempo sia stato”. Eva Manzio; “Artemisia Gentileschi Lettere precedute da Atti di un
processo per stupro”; Abscondita; Milano; 2015; p. 32.
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was extremely rude: “What do you want! Think about yourself

1% in addition to

and do not meddle in other people's business
this, the young woman tried to defend herself saying that all the
things that she did with Agostino were determined by the

promise of marriage of the latter’'.

Tuzia confirmed of being unaware of any sexual
relationship between them, also because they always denied it.
She added that Agostino was the only man with who Artemisia
has ever been alone. Tuzia showed this attitude of maintaining a
neutral position in this situation and not take defence of
anybody. She created many contradictions and raised many
doubts concerning her role and friendship with Cosimo Quorli
and Agostino Tassi and if this coalition defined by Artemisia,

was true between them.

Tuzia, in her testimonies, focused on three different people:
Orazio, Artemisia and Agostino. The neighbour described
Orazio in a positive way. He was a respectful and respectable
man, surrounded by lots of friends and also a lovely father,
jealous of her little daughter. Moreover, their friendship was
based on a mutual trust. Orazio not only encouraged this woman
and Artemisia in becoming friends and spending some time
together, but also asked her to accompany to her daughter

wherever she needed or wanted to go.

Talking about friendships, Tuzia did not hide the one that
she had with Cosimo Quorli and Agostino Tassi. The latter was
even a frequent guest of the Gentileschi's because he was
interested not only in Orazio's pictorial lessons, but also in
Artemsia. The two used to have a strong complexity, described

by Tuzia in particular in the two episodes in San Giovanni and

%% “Che volete voi! Abbadate a voi e non v'impicciate di quel che non vi tocca!”. Eva Manzio; “Artemisia Gentileschi
Lettere precedute da Atti di un processo per stupro”; Abscondita; Milano; 2015; p. 32.

Ul .. ]Jdetta Artemisia m'ha risposto che cio faceva perché gli aveva promesso di pigliarla per moglie”. Eva Manzio;
“Artemisia Gentileschi Lettere precedute da Atti di un processo per stupro”; Abscondita; Milano; 2015; p. 33.
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in San Paolo. It was clear that he wanted to spend most of his
time alone with her, talk to her and know her better. Artemisia,
on her side, never refused his advances, differently from what
she told to the inquisitors before. Tassi's affection was
unhealthy. He was extremely jealous, he constantly looked for
her everywhere she was and he got even angry, if he could not

see her and control all her moves.

Tuzia’s speeches presented little incongruities. First of all,
she confirmed that the day of the rape, she abandoned Artemisia
with Agostino in her room, while she was painting and she did
not give any explanation about it, remaining extremely detached
and vague from it. With the same attitude, Tuzia mentioned
having seen some signs of fight, like scratches, in Agostino's
face; however, she could no remember the exact moment of
when he got them. Her “betrayal” is incoherent as well she said
that she saw more than once Artemisia and Agostino talking and
playing in the Gentileschi's bed. The girl was naked, differently
from the latter. Tuzia blamed Artemisia for what she did and
what can surprise everyone is the reaction of this girl. She was
rude and unaware of the consequences of her actions, differently
from the way she had spoken to the inquisitor days before. In
this part of her speech lies another contradiction. Tuzia
confirmed that she had seen the couple on Artemisia's bed more
than once. Why did she declare herself as unaware of a possible

carnal relation between them?

In conclusion, Tuzia testimony showed not only a betrayal
towards her friendship with Artemisia, but also towards the
agreement made with Agostino. Tuzia used Artemisia's words to
underline that Agostino promised her marriage. Why did she
underline this aspect to the judges, knowing that it could have
ruined Agostino's position? Why she did not protect and help

him and consequently, respected their pact?
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I1.3.2 - Gian Battista Stiattesi's testimony

Gian Battista Stiattesi was interrogated on the 24™ March in
the Roman Curia 's office, the day after the last testimony of
Tuzia. He was a friend of Gentileschis’, who tried to stoutly
defend Artemisia from all the charges. His confession was
extremely fruitful, because he revealed many details not only
about Tassi 's feelings, but also the ones of the other enemy for
Artemisia: Cosimo Quorli. Stiattesi also brought some letters,
received from the two men, which proved the veracity of his
side of the story. As he underlined more than once, he had a
strict friendship with them, for this reason, it was not difficult to

get news confidently.

This testimony talks about three different topics: the first
one, Agostino's love for Artemisia; followed by Cosimo's
affection for the girl and the conclusive chapter about the
strange case of the painting's theft, giving us a different point of
view compared to the one of Orazio, seen in his letter to the
pope. Stiattesi was aware of the entire story and of the main
reason behind Tassi and Tuzia's imprisonment. He also knew
that his deposition could have made this story clearer and for
this reason. He underlined the culpability of both Agostino Tassi
and Cosimo Quorli, because they took advantage from their
friendship with Orazio to organize the deflowering of the young
woman. Agostino already knew this woman right from his
arrival in Rome thanks to Quorli and the latter tried to let them
meet in many ways. The first encounter with Cosimo's family
happened in the road to Monte Cavallo, where Orazio wanted to
show his last frescos. After the exposition, everybody got
invited to have dinner together at Cosimo's house. In that
occasion, Agostino started to know Artemisia better and through
Cosimo's help, he started to frequent the Gentileschis, even
when Orazio was absent. Cosimo revealed to Stiattesi that Tassi

took the opportunity to rape Artemisia and maintain an active

49



sexual relationship with her. Artemisia wanted to marry
Agostino because he took her virginity. Tassi revealed him
many details concerning his personal situation. He defined his
relationship with Artemisia as an intricate labyrinth created by
Cosimo, who became one of the major obstacle to their
marriage. However, he could not stay away from Quorli because
there were “bigger causes” to solve as soon as possible’> and
Cosimo could have helped him. In order to do so, Tassi had to
go back to Tuscany and after that he would have married
Artemisia in order to respect the promise made to God and to his
beloved Artemisia. Tassi was obssessed with Artemisia. Once
Orazio wanted to arrange a marriage between his daughter and a
young man known as “il Modena”, however everything was
ruined by Agostino's intervention. The latter confessed that
Artemisia was his property and no one else's™. He was jealous
of the other suitors. Unfortunately, Tassi was not the only one
interested on her. Cosimo revealed that he was in love with
Artemisia too™*. He considered her as an easy woman because
he saw her having a sexual relationship with another man. For
this reason, he tried to force her in having sex with him too, but
he always failed. He did all of this, regardless Tassi's feelings
for her. He also told him what he liked about these two attempts
of raping her. Agostino could not rebel against Cosimo because
the latter was his benefactor. Stiattesi revealed that months
before Artemisia's rape, Agostino had told Quorli that he had a

wife in Tuscany, called Maria, met in Livorno. One day, this

[...] Agostino hebbe che fare carnalmente con detta Artemisia e la svergino, si come pit volte m'ha detto Agostino in
confidenza. Et anco dal medesimo Cosimo piul e piu volte ho sentito che sia vero che detto Agostino 1'habbi sverginata,
et a questo proposito Cosmo molte volte s'¢ lassato intendere con esso me che havendola sverginata Agostino, voleva
che lo sposasse. Et Agostino infinite volte reggionando con me di questa materia m'ha detto che in qualsivoglia maniera
lui & obligato di sposarla ma che Cosmo guasta lui questo negotio dicendomi: “se ben il Signor Cosmo mostra di volere
ch'io la sposi, nondimeno ho delle cause talmente grandi che sono in necessita di non portlo fare.”. Eva Manzio;
“Artemisia Gentileschi Lettere precedute da Atti di un processo per stupro”; Abscondita; Milano; 2015; p. 33.

3 «[...] m'ha confessato piil volte essere la verita che lui non ha voluto che nessuno pretenda in quella casa, intendendo
ch'artemisia fosse sua e non di altri; e dal medesimo Cosmo m'é stato detto piu e pitt volte ch'Agostino ha guasto lui
tutti li parentadi perché non voleva ch'Artemisia havesse d'havere occasione con altri che con esso lui.” . Ibiden, p. 39.
...] et io, parendomi di conoscere che Cosmo ancor fosse innamorato di Artemisia”. Ibiden, p. 37.
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woman left him for another man. Agostino was so upset, that he
moved in to his brothers-in-law 's house in Rome, and raped his
wife's sister, from whom he had even children. In 1611 he had
been accused of incest and Cosimo, who was a papal executive,
had been able to acquit him. In addition to this, few months after
his moving in Rome, Tassi hired two assassins in order to kill
his wife. Stiattesi underlined that he did not know the identities
of those men, but he was certain that they stabbed Maria till her
death and after that they came to Rome to be paid. Some letters
of Tuscan merchants had confirmed this news that Tassi showed
him35%6.
Another shocking topic revealed by Stiattesi was Cosimo's
pretence of being Artemisia's real father. He used to ask around
if people could notice some similarities between himself and
Artemisia. He was extremely convinced about his paternity
because there were similarities between them, as for example
their faces' shape, eyes and eyelashes. Stiattesi asked him if it
was right trying to have sex with a girl who could have been her
daughter. Cosimo was not worried at all because to him incest
was a way to make their family bigger. Stiattesi underlined that
there were other people who could confirm his version, as for

example his wife Portia>” and Cosimo's servant Dianora.

> “Ho dopoi saputo dal medesimo Agostino che esso ha fatto ammazzare la sua moglie e n'ho visto le litere risponsive
di mercanti lucchesi, pisani e livornesi nelle quali ho tocco con manoche la moglie era stata ammazzata. E per prima
alcuni mesi haveva tocco non so quante pugnalate ma non potette succedere lihomicidio. [...] Io non so chi habbi
ammazzato la detta Maria ma & stata amazzata per quanto m'ha detto Agostino in Mantua [...] che saranno circa tre
mesi et anco m'ha detto che quelli ch'havevano fatto il servitio erano venuti a Roma per il pagamento [...] E dette litere
detto Agostino me I'ha mostrate in casa sua [...] le quali litere so anco che 1'ha mostrate a Artemisia che cosi lei m'ha
detto.”. Ibiden, p. 38.

%% Artemisia did not know about Tassi's wife and she underlined this fact in her testimony. She said that only after
months she discovered the truth about him having a wife and she immediately felt a sense of betrayal, because he
always denied it and highlighted that she was the only one with who he had a sexual relationship. “/...] e perché io
doppo hebbi notitia che luihaveva moglie mi dolsi seco di questo tradimento e lui sempre me I'ha negato dicendomi che
non haveva moglie e sempre me l'ha confermato che altro che lui non m'haveva presa”. Ibiden, p. 20.

37 Portia Stiattesi had been interrogated on the 16" May in the house of Santo Spirito. Her testimony went against
Agostino Tassi. She confirmed her husband's confession, saying that this man was extremely interested in artemisia and
in her social life. He asked her many times to meet to have a private talk. One evening, Porzia, Giovan Battista Stiattesi
their son Aloisio, Artemisia and her brother Giulio decided to go to Corte Saravella. Once arrived there, Agostino was
waiting for them and he immediately addressed to Artemisia in order to propose her and make sure she understood that
he wanted to keep his promise. He said her: “ My lady Artemisia, you know that you have to be mine and not of
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The last part of his interrogatory is about the disappearance
of the famous painting of Judith, previously mentioned by
Orazio in his letter to the pope. It was a painting without a
committee. Artemisia decided to give it as a gift to Tassi. Quorli
liked it so much that decided to forge Artemisia's assignment in
his favour. Stiattesi knew about this scandal and wrote a letter to

Cosimo, who had to blame himself for his action’®.

His version of facts was different form the one of Orazio.
The latter accused both Agostino and Cosimo of having stolen
this painting from Artemisia's hands, underlining that the painter
of this work of art was himself. This act was such an incredible
lack of respect for Orazio, who compared it to an attempt of
killing him. In Stiattesi version, readers do not deal with a sort
of personal cahoots of Tassi and Quorli, but with the real author
of the painting, Artemisia, who after having finished her work,
decided to give it as a present to her lover Agostino. Following
Stiattesi's speech, the real thief of this painting was Cosimo,
who wanted to get his revenge on Tassi's relationship with the
young girl. He changed the name of the receiver with his one
and hide it in order that nobody could find it. This report left
readers with few unanswered questions: why did Orazio write to
the pope that both the two men were culpable of the
disappearance of the painting, even though he knew that it was
not like this and accusing Agostino Tassi of another crime
unnecessarily? Moreover, why did Orazio pretend to be
considered the real author of this painting and not recognize her

daughter's abilities in front of everyone, including the pope?.

anybody else's and you know that I made a promise and I want to keep it [...] if I do not marry you, may devils get into
my body as much as the hair that there in my head and in my beard, for the rest of my life [...] Let's switch the rings .
Artemisia was happy to hear his proposal, but few days before, she discovered that he was married to another woman,
who probably was already dead. For this reason, Artemisia wanted to make sure that her wife was really dead before
accepting his proposal and Tassi confirmed the death of Maria. However, he asked her to tell to everybody that he was
not the man who deflowered her but it was another person's fault, who died recently. The woman refused to tell a lie,
because as she underlined, he raped her in her chamber the last May. Ibiden, pp. 93-95).

¥ Stiattesi brought proofs for his testimony. They were made up not only of his letter of reproach towards Cosimo
Quorli, but also of some sonnets written by Agostino Tassi for Artemisia, in which he showed his love for her.
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I1.3.3 - Agostino Tassi's testimonies

Differently from all the other people, Tassi had been
interrogated in the prison of Corte Savella in five different days:
the 26™ March, 8" - 12™ - 14™ April and 11™ May. He told his
personal story, mentioning not only his previous life in Tuscany
with his dead wife Maria Cannodoli but also the one in Rome
focusing on his friendship with Cosimo Quorli, Gian Battista
Stiattesi and Orazio Gentileschi. and his relationship with
Artemisia. His answers concerning the last topic were denials of

every accusation.

The 26" of March began his first interrogatory. He admitted
that it was not his first time behind the bars. In fact, he had
already been put in prison three times: the first time happened
because he was accused of having had a sexual relationship with
his sister-in-law Costanza. He was freed without paying any fine
or reimbursement. The second time he was put in the jail of Tor
di Nona for nonsense and he had been immediately released.
The third time happened in Livorno. He fought with a man but,

even in this case, he had been freed after few hours.

The inquisitors asked him to talk about his past and describe
himself a little. Tassi was born in Rome but at the age of 12 had
moved to Florence, where he had become a painter and worked
for important people as the Grand Duke. When the latter died,
he had moved back to Rome accompanied by his two sisters
Olimpia and Clelia and helped by his sister-in-law Costanza and

her husband Filippo.

Talking about his relationship with Costanza, Tassi
underlines that his brother-in-law and his wife were already in
Rome when he arrived there. After few days, they bought a
house all together in Saint Onofrio. He kept alive this beautiful

friendship with Filippo even after having been accused of incest.
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The next question was about his wife's death. Agostino
confirmed that she had died in Tuscany when he was already in
Rome and for this reason, he could not reveal exactly when she
died. He got married eight years before and used to live with
Maria in Lucca, however two weeks before his departure to
Rome, he had been left because she went away, after having
stolen him seven or eight crowns and precious objects made of
silver and gold. Only after his arrival in the “Urbe”, did he hear

from his friends about her death™.

Agostino affirmed that he has several friends in Rome, met
in the pictorial cyrcle of Orazio Gentileschi. With the latter he
had collaborated in several paintings and frescos, while he used
to go out with Gian Battista Stiattesi and Cosimo Quorli.
However, through the passing of time his friendship with
Gentileschi and Stiattesi ended because they were thieves who
betrayed him. Tassi borrowed them a big sum of money months
ago, but they have never give it back, avoiding him every time

they could.

In his second testimony released the 6™ of April, Tassi
described Stiattesi as a different person, compared to the one
previously seen: a womanizer, who loved deflowering virgins
and being surrounded by several women. He had got pregnant a
50-year-old woman and a son had been born. Stiattesi's passion
brought him to ask to Agostino to write for him sonnets. Once
Gian Battista organised an encounter between Tassi and one of
his neighbours, known as ““ /la Bernascona”, in order to thank
him for his help. Stiattesi's main interest has always been
Artemisia. They were madly in love with each other and had

strong sexual relationship®. Agostino defended himself by

%% In his testimony Tassi gave the names of his friends: Signor Bonaventura Mattia, Giovanni Segni; others warned him
about it but he did not remembered their names. Ibiden, p. 46.

80«r ] e m'ha anco detto ch'era innamorato della figliola del Gentileschi, e lei di lui, e che si fottevano insieme, [...] in
offitio ha sverginato zitelle et impregnato donne, che impregno anco una donna quasi di 50 anni, e n'ha un figliolo”.
Ibiden, p. 51.
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saying that he tried to dissuade Stiattesi more than once and
blamed him for his actions, because he did not respect his strong
friendship with Orazio Gentileschi. Unfortunately, his
interventions were useless because Stiattesi kept going to

Artemisia's house and staying with her.

Even Tassi used to go to the Gentileschi's house as well.
However his reasons were different: he had to teach to
Artemisia the concepts of perspective. This commitment
explained his presence there even when Orazio was absent.
However, he never talked to her or remained with her alone,
because there were always her brothers or Tuzia with them.
Tassi added that the neighbour had to look after Orazio's “wild”
daughter and her “wicked life”. In fact as he revealed in his third
interrogatory, the girl used to have inappropriate behaviours.
During one evening, Artemisia, who believed that her father
went to Quorli's house for a dinner, invited the painter called
Geronimo Modenese at her house. What she did not know, was
that her father was sticking around to control her. When he saw
that a man got inside his house, he asked Agostino to come there
immediately because he needed his support to beat him with a
stick. Orazio discovered that it was two years since Geronimo
had been having a sexual relationship with her daughter.
Speechless and dishonoured, accused Artemisia of being a

701~ Agostino described in a

“whore” and a “hopeless case
generic way even other people who used to visit the young girl:
“One of them was a tall young man and red stubble, dressed
with long silk clothes.”®. Once, he discovered them together,
hugged one with the other; Artemisia prayed him not to tell this

to her father.

o1 <[ ...] questo suo dire che la sua figlia faceva cattiva vita voleva infierire ch'era una puttana e che non sapeva come si
far a rimediarci” . Ibiden, p. 55.
%2 Ibiden, p. 59.
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Tassi used to blame Tuzia even for allowing people like
them, to get inside the house and not preventing Artemisia's
flirts. He saw Artemisia with Tuzia only twice: the first time
they were walking in the “Corso” street and the second time was
in San Onofrio. He denied having met them inside the church,
but once, Orazio warned him that Tuzia and Artemisia were
going to San Giovanni's church and suspected that there was
another reason behind their trip. He asked Tassi to check on
them. When the latter arrived there, Artemisia had been able to
get away from Tuzia. Agostino intervened and approached her,
until they reached together the church of Santa Maria Maggiore
and then he went back to Monte Cavallo to finish his fresco. It
was not the first time that he had to intervene, because Tuzia

often did not follow Artemisia everywhere she wanted to go.

He had also to explain was his presence in the carriage that
was leading Tuzia, her children, Artemisia and her brothers to
San Paolo. Agostino justifies himself saying that because of
Orazio's lack of trust on Tuzia, he had to look after all the group.
However, he was not alone, in fact, one of his friends, Antonio

“the mason” went with him.

Tassi confirmed that he followed Artemisia out of the
carriage and stayed with her until they reached the church,
however they were not alone, because her brothers and his
friend Antonio accompanied them. He tried to discuss with the
young lady about her behaviour. Artemisia's explication was the
typical one of a frustrated woman. In fact, she complained about
being considered by her father as a substituted of her mother.
Artemisia was left alone by her father most of the time, with no
money to survive and also had to find a way to take care of all

her brothers®.

%3 “Che vuoi che ci faccia, m'ha condotto qui mio padre cosi, la prima cosa perche lui stette una volta venti di preggione
e mi lascio in necessita di una pagnotta e l'altra perché lui vuole usar meco a punto come se li fosse moglie”. Ibiden, p.
65.
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In the testimony of the 14™ April, he talked about a
marriage between Artemisia and Geronimo Modenese that had
never been celebrated. Tassi reported that Orazio was organizing
it and he helped him to make sure that nothing could go wrong.
Unfortunately, Modenese raised an issue: he heard about the
negative reputation of the girl and in one of their dialogues, he
called her “whore” because it was said that she had sex with
many other people before him®. Orazio was desperate and he
asked Tassi to save that marriage talking with Modenese and
changing his mind. Agostino tried to dissuade the young man,
talking about the beautiful memories he collected with
Artemisia. At the beginning, Tassi succeeded but the marriage
failed anyway, because one day, Modenese caught Artemisia
desrespecting him. In fact, because he did not totally trusted on
her, he asked his friends to control her house, in particular all
her moves and visitors. Unfortunately, in that house, the chaos

ruled.

On The 11th May 1612 the judges required another short
interrogatory, because Tassi version was incompatible with all
the other ones. The rapist constantly denied any sexual

relationship with Artemisia: “I never knew her carnally”®.

11.3.4 - Two “false” testimonies: Antonio Mazzantino and

Nicolo Bedino

Antonio Mazzantino was interrogated twice: on the 8" and
9™ of June in the prison of Corte Savella. The previous night of
hisinterrogatory, he visited Tassi, who explained him that it was
Orazio's fault if he had been put in jail. However, Mazzantino

swore that they never discussed it further.

b4 «J...] detto giovane mi disse che era stato benissimo informato che Artemitia era una puttana. [ ...]J lui lo sapeva
benissimo che lei era una puttana, che c'haveva havuto a fare non solo lui ma sapeva che c'havevano anco havuto a che
fare con molti altri”. Ibiden, p. 67.

85«s...] perché io non ho mai havuto che trattare con lei carnalmente” . Ibiden, p. 76.

57



In the past year, he had the chance to go to Tassi's house
twice and spend some time with him, indeed, he never improved
his friendship with Orazio. In fact the only thing that he could
say about the family of the latter, was that he had three sons and
a daughter, whose name could not remember even because he
never met her. After that he immediately contradicted himself
saying: “ I want to tell the truth because once, I saw the daughter

of the Gentileschis in her room with other women >,

The next day, he added other details about this complicated
case, which were in contrast not only one with the other, but
also with the ones revealed by Tassi days before. The first
question was about the episode happened in the road to San
Paolo. He said that he was with Agostino and the latter invited
him to go to the Gentileschis' house. When they were
approaching there, they saw the carriage leaving and Agostino
stopped it to get inside. Mazzantino entered the carriage as well.
In it, there were the three sons of Orazio and four women,
including Artemisia, Tuzia and one of her daughters. At first he
declared: “Nobody got out of the carriage, until we arrived in

7 However, he

San Paolo and we went out all together
immediately changed his version of facts, saying that few
minutes before their arrival, Artemisia and Agostino got out of
the carriage and he followed them. The inquisitors asked him
why they did this, but Mazzantino did not have an answer for
that and concluded his speech saying that they came back all

together, but Agostino and him stopped next to the Sisto bridge.

He confirmed that he knew Artemisia before this episode. In
fact, he saw her for the first time, at one of her house's windows.
He was standing outside with Agostino, because they were

waiting for Orazio to have dinner out together.

%« o voglio dire la verita perché io ho visto la figliola di detto Gentileschi un giorno in camera dove c'erano altre
donne”. Ibiden, p. 71.

67 «Non usci mai nessuno di carrozza sino a che non arrivammo a San Paolo dove uscimmo tutti insieme”. Ibiden, p. 73.
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In conclusion, he did not know if Artemisia and Tassi had
other possibilities to remain alone, or if the man was in love
with her, because the latter never talked about women or about

his personal feelings.

The 8" of June, Nicold Bedino willingly showed up in the
Curia's offices to testimony on behalf of Agostino Tassi,
sustaining his innocence and accusing Artemisia of having had
affairs with several men. He began his speech, saying that he
knew both Orazio and Agostino. In fact, for three years, he lived
next to the Gentileschis and worked as Orazio’s boy. Tassi,
instead, was a long time friend and also his private teacher. He

968

described the latter as “an honourable and rich man’", who

went round with respectable men.

The inquisitors asked him questions regarding Artemisia.
Bedino told them that he often saw her having strange attitudes.
An example was that he caught Artemisia with many letters
from unknown senders. The young woman could not write a
word and for this reason she often asked him or even her
brothers to pick them up. This uncomfortable situation brought
him to leave the Gentileschis. Another negative attitude were
her flirts with three different men, with who she probably had a
sexual relationship. They were: Geronimo Modenese, a painter
dressed with long clothes called Antigenio and Francesco
Scarpellino, who confessed him that sometimes he took her by

the hand and accompanied her in her room®.

88« ..] uomo honorato e di buona condizione” . Ibiden, p. 106.

% After Bedino's deposition, the court decided to interrogate him other times, in order to verify if he was telling the truth
or not, in particular about who had been his real employer between Orazio or Agostino. This assessment was
fundamental because in the first case, it would have acquitted Tassi, and consequently, Artemisia would have been
considered a non virgin even before the rape. Lot of people, friends of both painters, were requested in the tribunal in
order to verify the two versions of the story. Among them, Agostino's step sister, Olimpia de Bargellis, testified against
her own brother, saying that he was capable of committing abhorrent things. Moreover, she added that Orazio had been
fundamental to free Agostino from all the accuses that the latter received in 1611, when he had been denounced of
incest with his sister-in-law. Between the two painters there was a strong friendship based on mutual trust. This also
sustained Orazio's statements, who declared that his house's doors were always opened for both Quorli and Tassi.
Another painter, friend of the Gentileschis, Carlo Saraceni, declared that Artemisia was always segregated in her house,
also because her father was extremely jealous. All these details given to the judges, brought them to reconsider all the
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I1.3.5 - The two confrontations
Agostino Tassi vs Artemisia Gentileschi

On the 14™ of May, Tassi was again called to testify his
version of facts, because the latter did not satisfy the judges.
However, this time he had to be confronted with Artemisia. This
confrontation was characterized a cruel physical torture of the
young woman, known was “la Tortura della Sibilla”".
Artemisia ran the risk of loosing her fingers and her career as
painter. Elizabeth Cohen said that forcing her to this kind of
torture was the only mean through which the judges could trust

. .. . 1
again a non-virgin like her’".

Before this encounter, Tassi and Artemisia both confirmed
their previous reports, underlining their innocence and that they
were ready for a direct confrontation. The woman had to sign a
trial record in order to meet and talk to Tassi. The latter began
accusing her of having had several flirts with different men and
for this reason her house swarmed with people. He gave the
names of two men, with who Artemisia apparently had a sexual
relationship: Francesco Scarpellino and Pasquinio da Fiorenza.
Tassi concluded his speech saying that he never stole a painting
from her father; on the contrary, he tried to maintain a certain
distance from their house, because he had already been involved

in many other fights.

Artemisia had to reply under torture. During those endless

minutes, she showed a ring, saying that it was the love token,

testimonies not only of Tassi's and Bedino's, who declared himself ready for a physical torture (happened in the 29" of
October 1612), to prove that he was telling the truth; but also of the ones of all the other people who tried to slander the
Gentileschis. Among them, there were the landlord Luca Finocchi, the painter Michelangelo Vestri and the neighbour of
Orazio, Costanza Ceuli.

" The “Torture of the Sybil” was a well-know instrument of torture. Michael Kerrigan, in his book called “The
instruments of torture”, described how it worked . He said that it provided the torsion of both thumbs, through a rope,
which was tangled up in the form of a slipknot. In other cases, there was the possibility of putting other ropes and
ornaments around all the other fingers, the two temples and the forehead. Every single rope was pulled with violence. It
was an alternative of another torture, the crushing. Michael Kerrigan; “Instruments of torture”; Amber Books; Reprint
edition; 2016; p. 59.
"I Elizabeth Cohen; The trial of Artemisia Gentileschi: A Rape as History; Sixteen Century Journal; 2000; p. 49.
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which Tassi gave her as a promise of their future marriage’”. In
conclusion, she explained that Scarpellino and Pasquino were
two family friends, who used to come at her house to meet
Orazio and attend the pictorial circle. The first one had only
sixteen years old and preferred her brothers' company instead of
hers. The second one came at her house only once. She was
seven years old and he never tried to touch her. In addition to
this, she confirmed that she could barely read so, she never

possessed letters coming from several men.

In conclusion, she highlighted again that she waited an
entire year before denouncing him in the tribunal, because she
hoped to become his wife and waited him to propose. However,
when she heard that he was already married to another woman’>,
she decided to give up on their relationship and feeling

heartbroken, she needed to ask for a punishment.

Agostino Tassi vs Giovan Battista Stiattesi

The day after the previous confrontation, the 15 of May,
Tassi had to talk with Giovan Battista Stiattesi. The latter started
talking about their encounter, during which Tassi confessed his
love for Artemisia. He regretted having deflowered her, because
he had been teased by Quorli who guaranteed him that she was
already a non — virgin. Only after, he realized the truth and the

consequences that derived from it.

He added another important detail about Agostino's
obsessed love for Artemisia. In the evening of the lrst May,
Stiattesi, his wife Portia, his son Luisio, Artemisia and her
brother Giulio went to Corte Savella. Once there, in the presence
of Giovan Battista and Portia, Agostino apologized her because

he did not keep the promise he made her and affirmed that he

2 “Questo & 1'anello che tu mi dai et queste sono le promesse”. Ibiden, p. 81.
73 o speravo di havervi per marito ma adesso non lo spero perche so che havete moglie [...]”. Ibiden, p. 83.
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was ready to marry her. He took her hand and gave her a ring.
Artemisia was not convinced of his proposal and asked him if he
was married to another woman. Tassi confirmed her that his
wife was already dead, but he asked her a favour: she had to
blame Cosimo Quorli of having raped her. He was already dead,
so any negative consequences would have happened to them’”.

Artemisia refused.

Tassi called Stiattesi “a forger and a liar””

, who was trying
to take a personal revenge on him. He denied every accused,
even when Giam Battista showed to all the people present there
all the letters that he already brought the day if his first report as

physical proof of his accusations.

I1.3.6 - The judgement

The trial continued for a few months; the court needed to
verify all the witnesses' depositions. In fact, as Elizabeth Cohen
highlights “Trials are multivocal, shaped by the conventional
formalities of legal language and practice and by the diversity of
the speakers' political, social and cultural positions™’®, so it was
not easy to understand who was lying or who was telling the

truth.

The 27" of November 1612, Agostino Tassi was
condemned for having raped Artemisia Gentileschi, corrupted
some witnesses and slandered Orazio Gentileschi. The judge
Gerolamo Felice gave him the chance of choosing between two
different punishments: five years of forced labour or exile from

Rome. Tassi chose the latter.

™ “Buttatela almeno addosso a qualch'un altro et dite che qualch'un altro vi ha sverginato, dite che sia stato Cosimo che
in ogni modo € morto”. Ibiden, p. 90.
73 “un falsario e un busiardo”. Ibiden, p. 92.
’® Ibiden, p. 56.
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11.4 - The “unconscious” feminism of Artemisia Gentileschi

The case of Artemisia creates a strong connection between
her art and life and the topic of feminism. Obviously, it was
premature to talk about female power and victory against the
patriarchal society in the period in which this woman lived.
Artemisia's story is extremely difficult to analyse from this point
of view; her life hardly changed after the rape and the trial,
which, as Elizabeth Cohen said, “were put at the centre of her
identity and achievements™””. Artemisia was able to reconstruct
her new self: she moved to Florence, got married, had several
children and even extramarital relationships. Moreover, this
woman created her personal fame and was required by the most
powerful European men, not because she had been raped and
used it to act like a victim, but because she was extremely
talented. She absorbed the pictorial abilities of Caravaggio, as
for example the theatrical scenes, the strong use of the
chiaroscuro and the attention to all the particulars in order to
“give life” to famous religious and classical scenes. Her fame
depended not on her past, but on her chameleonic capacities.
However, we cannot totally exclude her past from her works:
she was possibly influenced by her personal story and used it as
an inspiration to better define and paint scenes, connected with
the themes of female domination and destruction of a negative
male power, drawn from classical and religious examples. She
probably used her negative experience and memories to

transform them into her art and personal stile.

The four following examples betray this likely connection

between this woman and the protagonists of her paintings.

The choice of these four paintings is based primarily on the
period of their creation, after the trial; secondly, on the subject

depicted and the instant in which they are “acting” in front of

"7 Ibiden, p.56.
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the public's eyes; thirdly, on the elements that are constantly

repeated in all of them, defining the personal style of Artemisia.

11.4.1 - Judith slaying Holofernes

Artemisia's collection is characterized by a repertoire full of
religious, classical and allegorical figures. Most of them had
been recreated after years, showing her stylistic change and
improvements. One of the main subject, depicted several times,
was Judith. One of the most famous scenes, in which she is the
undisputed protagonist, is called Judith slaying Holofernes (4).
It was depicted in 1612-1613, few months after the conclusion
of the trial and was reproposed years later (1620), showing a
different style, which was no more extremely connected with the
one of Caravaggio, proving that she found her personal artistic

path, refining the previous one.

“4)

Since 1612, her art had become more dramatical, dark and
anxious. She depicted this scene four times; three of them,
including this one, were similar to the famous painting of

Caravaggio Judith beheading Holofernes (5).
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Caravaggio’s naturalistic style is characterized by dark,
dramatic atmospheres, obtained by the way of the interplay of
lights and shades, which defined all the reactions of the

characters in this violent scene.

Artemisia augmented theatricality through a different
disposition of the characters in this dark room. While
Caravaggio had constructed the scene horizontally, Artemisia
begins in the upper part of the painting with the maid, who helps
Judith, trying to hold on Holofernes, while she is slaying him.
The maid’s hands cross not only with the one of the victim, who
desperately tries to resist and fights to escape from that mortal
female net, but also with of Judith’s. The heroine shows
coldness: she is emotionless, completely detached from the
horrible spectacle that she is creating. She prevents the blood
from ruining her precious clothes by moving out of the way a

bit.

Artemisia focused all her painting into just one moment,
which lasts only few seconds. It is a crucial situation, in which

Holofernes' life is on the line. He is not completely dead or
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completely alive; he is suffering and his soul is abandoning his
body. This increases the presence of violence in the entire scene.
The tension is intensified by his grimace of pain and the blood,

which drips on the white blankets.

This violence recalls in a way the one that Artemisia
experienced. Obviously in her case, nobody died, but the
position of the bodies was inverted. Artemisia underlined that
Tassi had forced her to lie down on her bed, and thus she could
not move and find a way to free herself from Tassi’s weight and
strength. She was trapped; nobody could help her, and she could
not scream. She knew how it was to be in Holofernes' position,
condemned to death, which for Artemisia was more a “social”
one, due to her loss of her hymen. There lies a possible
connection between Judith's act and Artemisia’s probable
internal vengeance against Tassi. This painting could also be a
silent impulse of the artist, who knew that painting is the only
way through which she could talk in a patriarchal and

misogynistic society.

In her paintings she was relatively free to share her personal
desires, connected to situations that had never happened in that
moment of her past. One of them is the concept of female help
and support. In this painting, it is represented by the secondary
character of the maid, who actively intervened in the murder.
Her behaviour was in contrast with Tuzia's. Elizabeth Cohen
said that this betrayal had been more destabilizing for Artemisia,

than the one received by Tassi’*.

The young painter reproposed this topic in another famous

painting: Judith with her maid.

"8 Ibiden, p.67.
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11.4.2. - Judith with her maid

In this image (6), depicted years later (1618-1619), the
public perceives again the topic of female help, which started in
the previous work. In fact, Holofernes is already dead and his
head had been put inside a casket that Abra, Judith's maid, has to
cover carefully with a blanket soaked with blood. They have to
sneak out of the tent and go back to Bethulia, without being seen

or captured by Holofernes' guards.

(6)

This scene evokes tension and fear. The maid confirms her
loyalty to this woman, even from a physical point of view. The
two women are both looking at the right part of the painting,
because probably they have heard a noise. The maid does not
abandon her mistress; she waits for Judith's order. There are
signs of the precedent fight: the sword that the protagonist has to
hide and one lock of her hair, which falls from the beautiful and

accurate hairstyle, seen even in the precedent painting.
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11.4.3 - Giaele and Sisara

Another representation that shows another vengeance
against a man is called Giaele and Sisara (7), made two years
later in 1620. This story, as the one of Judith, is a religious one
and derives from the Old Testament. Sisara, the general of
Canaan’s king, was oppressing the Israelites. However, during a
fight, he lost against Barac, an Israelite soldier. Sisara escaped,
trying to find asylum in Eber’s house. The latter was considered
his king’s ally. Giaele, Eber’s wife, welcomed him in her tent
and gave him some milk. After that, Sisara felt asleep and
Giaele stocked a picket in his temple, killing him immediately.
When the Israelite army, who was searching for Sisara
desperately, came to Eber’s village and Giaele proudly showed

the body of the dead man.

This story recalls Judith. These two women were able to
free their population from dangerous men. Both planned to kill
their enemies, ambushing them through their beauty and
kindness. The two murders are both extremely violent and cruel.
Artemisia shows again another female vengeance, based on
Caravaggio’s naturalism, theatricality and chiaroscuro.

Artemisia created a calm and almost idyllic atmosphere.




The warrior is depicted in a position of restful sleep,
unaware of what is going to happen to him. It seems that he
wanted especially to lean on Giaele’s womb. The latter reminds
us of Judith. She is wearing the same gold dress and her
hairstyle is ruined too; some locks are placed on her shoulder.
Even in this case, what strikes the public is the coldness of this
woman, who probably does not know the seriousness of her
action; moreover, it seems like this is an everyday act, which
puts her at her ease. This strong light that hits her from the upper
part of the painting and is cast the public on the murder weapon

in her hands underlines her beauty.

11.4.4 - Lucrezia Scalini

The last painting chosen (8) is famous, not only for its
composition, but also for its subject. Lucrezia had been a
protagonist of one of Titus Livius’ stories. She became famous
because she killed herself after having been raped by an
Etruscan king’s son. Losing her virginity was such a big
dishonour for her, that dying was the only solution to free her
from all her inner pain. Her last words (“it’s better being dead
than being dishonoured”) became a sort of epitaph. Her story
marked her as a martyr and example for all the women of the
following centuries. Obviously, her myth had been reshaped
according to the culture, the economical sensibility and the
politics of the period considered. She was used as an example to
sustain different topics as for example the murder of a tyrant, the
value of suicide and the passion of rich people and prelates for

naked women.

In Artemisia’s painting, Lucrezia is usually represented
bare-breasted, symbol of the female kindness. She became a
representation of virtue, chastity and control of one’s own

sexuality, because she tried to defend and save what remained of
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her honour. Artemisia found also a proper inspiration in her

story.

)

In 1621, Gentileschi depicted a moment of big pathos.
Lucrezia is going to commit suicide. Her body is emerging from
the darkness, enlightened by a strong light coming from the left
part of the painting. Artemisia had been able to make the public
focus not on the subject of the work of art, but rather on what is

going to happen.

This is another definition of female power, connected with
the memories of the dark past of the author of the painting. The
rape is the main element shared by Artemisia and Lucrezia, but
the way they use strength and power is totally different. The first
one suffered in many ways during the trial: she had been
betrayed by different people and friends, and physically
tortured; however, she proved through her works of art, that she
could start a new life and became a respected and desired artist
all around Europe. She never considered suicide as an option to
restore an inner peace, differently from Lucrezia. Could it be
that Artemisia had become the “new Lucrezia” in the eyes of the
public, because of the decisions she took and the strength she

showed?.
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I1.4.5 - Self-portrait

One of the main and recurring characteristics in all her
works is the self-portrait. It is a fundamental detail, because in a
way it highlights and reinforces this connection between
Artemisia and her works. As it was said in a precedent
paragraph, the painter used to be a beautiful robust young
woman. Orazio Gentileschi gave us an idea of how his daughter
was in his fresco “Concerto musicale con Apollo e le muse”(1).
In order to see if we are dealing with real self-portraits or not,
we should compare the foreground of each protagonists depicted
by Artemisia with other portraits of the young girl realized by

other artists.

Artemisia Gentileschi, detail from the fresco “Concerto musicale con Apollo e le muse” O. Gentileschi — A. Tassi,

Palazzo Pallavicini — Rospignoli, 1611-1612. (1)

Portrait of Artemisia Gentileschi Simon Vouet, Private collection, 1623-1626. (9)
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Particular of the painting Judith slaying Holofernes, A. Gentileschi, 1612-1613. (4)

Particular of the painting Judith with her maid, A. Gentileshi, 1618-1619. (6)

Particular of the painting Giaele and Sisara, A. Gentileschi, 1620. (7)
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Particular of the painting Lucrezia, A. Gentileschi, 1621. (8)

It is not difficult to see that all the women shared the same
physical characteristics: a bun with braids and curly locks;
chubby cheeks; hair that turned into light brown colour on the
basis of the power of the light; brown eyes, double chin. In the
works Judith with her maid (6) and Giaele and Sisara (7), the
two women share the same earring. After this long list of
common elements, the question that springs to one’s mind is
“who is this girl; was she an unknown woman with an
interesting physical appearance, who Artemisia used as a model

or did she portrait herself?”

Looking at Orazio's work (1) and the one of Vouet, there
are no doubts that those of Artemisia are self-portraits. In fact,
all the previous physical characteristics are present even in these
two paintings. In addition to this, the way the woman is dressed
in these two representations reminds us of Artemisia's Judith,
Giaele and her many other paintings, which are most of the

. 9
cases allegories’”.

Why did Artemisia depict herself in the guise of well-
known women, who had suffered from male assault and use
different form of violence to find real freedom? It is an open

question. Many interpretations are possible. The most likely one

7 Other important paintings of Artemisia Gentileschi: “Self-portrait with lute” (1615); “Self-portrait as allegory of
painting” (1630); “The penitent Magdalene” (1630).
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could be that the most reliable model of female body that she
could have immediately at hand, was the one that she knew
better: herself. Another interpretation, is that all the paintings
made a few years after her rape and the trial, representing
female victims of the male power, were a means through which
she could create a dialogue with the public, based on impossible
revenges and cries for help. Painting was the only cure for her
soul. Arguably, she never thought of becoming a feminist heroin

and even a martyr; she just wanted to grow up as female painter.

For this reason this chapter is called “the modern Judith”,
because as the classical Judith beheaded Holofernes, a wrong
and violent man, a menace of her city Bethulia; Artemisia
beheaded the patriarchal society twice: not only did she
demonstrate her innocence during the trial, she also became a

famous independent female painter.
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111
Rape cases in England —

Margaret Knowsley & Suzan More

By the late seventeen-century, English Church courts had to
deal with several cases that were brought up by women who had
been victims of male violence. At that time, a defamation suit
was in general characterised by men, who played the role of the
plaintiff and women who were the defendant. On the contrary,
in church courts, women used to dominate in both roles. The
example of York’s church court shows that the female presence
as plaintiffs doubled that of men, while their role as defendants
was anyway higher that the male one. As the two tables show, in

York women dominated over the 75% as plaintiffs and almost

60% as defendants.
Gender of  plaintiffs in  York church  courts®:
Gender No. of plaintiffs Percentage (%)
Male 45 333
Female 90 66.7
Total 135 100

Gender of defendants in York church courts®':

Gender No. of defendants Percentage (%)
Male 60 44.4
Female 75 55.6
Total 135 100

$9Steve Hindle, “The shaming of Margaret Knowsley: gossip, gender and the experience of authority in early modern
England”, Continuity and Change, Vol. 9, No.3, 1994, pp. 391-419, p. 41.

$'Ibiden, pp. 391-419, p. 41.
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In most cases, the female counterpart used to lose their
judicial battles; as Robert Shoemaker underlined, ‘“female
stereotypes encouraged women to settle disputes in court as

violence was deemed unfeminine”®?

. They were aware of the
difficulties in challenging men in courts and they had to choose
their battle carefully. Their motivation of bringing their rapist to
court was connected with the effects of reputation and
patriarchy. Reputation was the most important aspect for women
because it played a substantial role in being or not accepted in
the community. Moreover, male and female reputation differed
considerably: in the first case, it derived more from a wealthy
occupation and commercial honesty; in the second one, it
depended more on women's conduct. There was also a
difference in the treatments, on the basis of the sexual
accusation received: women were easily vilified for all their
actions; obliged to prove their innocence, only in few occasions,
they were able to ruin male reputation. Charges against women
were rare but at the same time effective because those proofs
had to be highly detailed. They also needed the support of other
witnesses, in particular other men, not only to be believed but
also to convince the society to accept their version of facts.

When a woman was classified as a “whore”, it was a way to
demote not only her but also her family to the lowest level of
society. That term attacked directly both her purity and public
conduct.

As Bodden shows, statistics revealed that the 91% of the
cases in York were defamations for sexual slander or sexual

assault.

82 M. C. Bodden, “Language as the Site of Revolt in medieval and Early Modern England, Speaking as Woman”,
Palgrave Macmillan, 2011, p. 59.
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Subject cases in York church courts™:

Case Type No. of cases Percentage (%)
Sexual Slander/Character 123 91.1
Parentage 3 2.2
Witchcraft 2 1.5
Undefined 7 5.2
Total 135 100

In this city and in London, female defamation suit increased
after the beginning of the seventeenth century.
In this chapter, I will focus on two different rape cases that
happened in York and London. They are two opposed examples
of two women, Margaret Knowsley and Suzan More who,
victims of the same violence, reacted in a different way and
reached a different ending. The first one will be unfairly
condemned to physical punishment, even though all the
evidence was against her rapist; the second girl was instead not
only to defend herself publicly even through the support
neighbours and respectable men, but also to change her fate

from being a dishonoured woman to a respectable one.

I1I .1 - Margaret Knowsley

The case of Margaret Knowsley was the most infamous
case of defamation in York. It emphasised the patriarchal power
and the strong protection that men received a priori in cases like
this. Before the trial, Knowsley did not have a good reputation.
All the people of the city had already classified her as a
“prettyface” woman; she was known for the miscarriage of an
illegitimate child years before the unpleasant situation in which
she was. She had a husband and multiple children. Her family
lived a life of poverty and hardship. Margaret worked as servant
for many families and important men. Her husband insisted that
she started working for a clergyman of Nantwich called Stephen

Jerome. She did not appreciate certain reactions of the latter,

83 Steve Hindle, “The shaming of Margaret Knowsley: gossip, gender and the experience of authority in early modern
England”, Continuity and Change, Vol. 9, No.3, 1994, pp. 391-419, p. 42.
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which were extremely inappropriate. For this reason, Knowsley
revealed to her close friend and cousin Alice Powell and her
neighbour Margaret Howard that Jerome assaulted her twice in
the summer and in the autumn of 1625. She explained that the
clergyman solicited her sexual favours several times and in a
variety of ways: “when she brought rushes into his bed chamber;
at the stile behind the church; on her doorstep; while she did the

2984

laundry She also refused all his gifts. This rejection made
the man more frustrated and reckless; consequently, he began to

threaten her.

However, the woman did not want this case to become a
public scandal and for this reason; she chose to reveal the
incident only in confidential. Unfortunately her “friends” spread
the voices and Jerome accused her of false gossiping. Knowsley
tried to retract her allegations in 1626, but the local magistrates
wanted to blame her, rather than the minister, for the scandal
caused. The trial began in 1627, during which judicial failure
was perceived in many different ways. Firstly, the oaths of other
testimonies were not required. Secondly, witnesses were all
examined in Knowsley’s absence. The woman’s petition
disadvantaged her because it constantly referred to her body, her
sexuality and this evoked for the judges a major source of male
anxiety: the “dependence of men’s identity on women’s sexual

85
honor”

. Knowsley was “confident, eloquent and forceful in her
claims whereas Jerome stayed entirely silent”*®. She was able to
underline the different knowledge and sexual position of the
woman in that society and also accused the judges of being
corrupted men, who advantaged Jerome. The Nantwich judges

were “all unimpeachable judicial authority that corroborated

84 Ibiden, pp. 391-419, p. 392.
85 M. C. Bodden, “Language as the Site of Revolt in medieval and Early Modern England, Speaking as Woman”,
Palgrave Macmillan, 2011, p. 59.
86 Steve Hindle, “The shaming of Margaret Knowsley: gossip, gender and the experience of authority in early modern
England”, Continuity and Change, Vol. 9, No.3, 1994, pp. 391-419, p. 399.
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. 8
Knowsley’s version of events”®’; moreover, they were all

clergymen and so, colleagues of Jerome. For this reason, it was
extremely difficult that they could destroy the reputation of a
man belonging to their social class. Even though there was no
proof against her and no witness laid charges against her, the
latter asked compassion from the judges, but instead “she was
sentenced to shaming and corporal punishment on the following
three market days. First, she was to be whipped through
Nantwich at the cart’s tail; second, she was to stand ‘on high in
the open market’ for two hours ’in the cage with papers on her
behind and before containing the inscription “for unjustly
slandering Mr Jerome a preacher of God’s word”; third, she

was to be carted through the town with papers.”™.

As Helen Harringhton declares, Nantwich magistrates
talked also with the first employer in Newecastle of the
clergyman. The latter had been dismissed form the previous
church in St Nicholas because of a similar behaviour: “he had

"% However, there

solicited the favours of a married woman
was a different ending for the latter, because her husband caught
him in this unacceptable behaviour and denounced him to the
court. The involvement of a husband was crucial because it gave
credibility to the woman’s description of facts. Knowsley’s case,
instead, proposed a different situation, in which the victim was
alone and her husband was not present in those moments of
physical assault; consequently, the woman was exposed to every

punishment the judges could think of. A woman could prove

her innocence only through the support of a man.

87 M. C. Bodden, “Language as the Site of Revolt in medieval and Early Modern England, Speaking as Woman”,
Palgrave Macmillan, 2011, p. 60.
88 Steve Hindle, “The shaming of Margaret Knowsley: gossip, gender and the experience of authority in early modern
England”, Continuity and Change, Vol. 9, No.3, 1994, pp. 391-419, p.405.
89 Helen Harringhton, Honours Dissertation, Gender and ‘Crimes of Speech’ in Seventeenth Century York, BA Hons
History, 2015, https://www.northumbria.ac.uk/media/7245193/helen-harrington-gender-and-crimes-of-speech-in-
seventeenth-century-york.pdf, p. 14.
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This punishment was the treatment that every woman
received if she had spoken about sexual assaults in public. It was
a warning to other women to not repeat the same mistake.
People perceived a different message after having seen her
punishment: a woman accusing a man of rape or attempted rape
was not usually believed and had to face a punishment for all
her accusations. For this reason, a private vengeance was better
than speaking about the incident and the victimization. In those
cases, silence was the only way in a society that wanted to

punish female speech and also situations of sexual violence.

As J. M. Beattie underlined, “most incidents of physical
abuse and violent conflict were ignored or revenged privately, or

at least settled without an appeal to the courts™”

. Moreover,
those cases in which there was no injury or death of the victim
were “massively underreported”®’. The ones that were
characterized by tangible evidence as a dead body or the loss of
limb, “would have been prosecuted at the higher rate than many
cases of rape because of an apparent lack of physical evidence

%2 In the crimes in which

(i. e. bruises, cuts, torn clothing, etc.)
the victims were not beaten or the clothing torn, private
resolution was the best option rather than the publication of the

violation of a woman’s chastity.

Knowsley’s case reveals that this woman was scared about
bringing publicly out her story with Jerome. Her gossip was
only a simple reaction to the social narrow-mindedness that
prevented her to defend herself. In addiction to this, gossip was
part of the female stereotype, because women were defined as
“incessant blabbers who spent their lives chattering and sharing

9993

secrets” ". For this reason, the court did not give importance to

90 Lee A. Ritscher, “The Semiotics of Rape in Renaissance English Literature - Berkeley Insight in Linguistics
and Semiotics”, Peter Lang, 2009, p. 28.
91 Ibiden, p.28.
92 Ibiden, p.28.
93 M. C. Bodden, “Language as the Site of Revolt in medieval and Early Modern England, Speaking as Woman”,
Palgrave Macmillan, 2011, p. 62.
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Jerome’s previous encounters and convicted the girl with no

evidence.

II1.2 - Susan More

Men took advantage of their power and rights to punish
women. The latter had to be careful in the way they presented
themselves in the court, talked about their body and sexuality
and how they resorted the law to defend themselves. If a woman
accused and denounced a man publicly, she did not only
challenge him and his authority, but also renewed this challenge
bringing him to court on a defamation suit. In many cases the
law enforcement in England was represented by the parish
power. In many cases, the church, the power, the community
and the law governed women and turned many female
arguments, putting them in the culprit’s position. Even in this
case there was an exception to the rule: Suzan More. This
woman intervened in the case of two noble men, John Scale and
the well-known Shakespeare’s printer Thomas Creede,
denouncing the latter of having raped her and also other women,

without facing any financial or legal consequences.

The rapist, Thomas Creede, was known at that time for
being Shakespeare’s printer. More’s deposition brought to the
light his dark secret of having raped many servants without
facing any financial or legal consequences. Susan More was 25
when she worked as point-maker for a bookseller, Randall
Birke, and his wife, Anne Birke. Thomas Creede’s business
brought him to easily attend the Birke’s house. His visits were
characterised by several attempts of chattering her up and
convincing her to go out for a drink with him. More always
refused. In order to take his own revenge, Creede at first asked
to Mrs. Birke to accompany her to the tavern and drink
something together with him. In midsummer, the two women

went to the Sun Tavern in Aldersgate Street, where the man
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offered them so much wine that More got “drunk and sick™**.
Creed took advantage of her, bringing her to the chamber of an
alehouse. The young girl laid down on a bed to sleep and the
man raped her. From that moment, she always refused any other
encounter with him and the man got angrier day after day, so
that “he would sett others sometimes taverne boyes and
sometimes the boyes of the forenamed widow Grimes to stand
in front of the Birke’s house, barring her progress and beckoning
her to go to the tavern”.”> The external help from one of his

flirts, the widow Grimes, was fundamental to give him the

chance to know More carnally again at the widow’s house.

There, Creede used to rape and bother even other women.
Once, More had been even able of saving the life of the servant
Blanche Howell. More saw her coming from Randall Birkes’
house, but she “perceyved she had byn drinking wine””® because
her face was red. At this point, the judges also heard the
deposition of Ms. Howell, who confirmed that she spent some
time drinking with Mr. Creede, who proposed her to join him at

goodwife Grimes house, but More had been able not to let her

go.

Another woman had been victim of Creede’s sexual
advances. More explained that the first time she went to the
tavern with them, he bragged that if Mrs. Birke would have
made “a pynt more [...] he could have don what he had would

9997

with her”’. Mrs. Birke herself confirmed her version and

explained to the judges some Creede’s advances’™.

This situation got worse for More when she discovered of

being pregnant. She advised Creede about the baby and he

94 “Women, Legal Discourse, Interpretative Maneuvres and Negotiating Safety”, Mary C. Boddern, Marquette
University USA, pp.297-326.
95 Ibiden pp.297-326.
96 Ibiden pp.297-326.
97 Ibiden pp.297-326.
98 Once he told her that she “had a sweet pair of lips, and if she were a good wench she would let him have some part
with her husband”, Ibiden pp.297-326.
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immediately turned churlish. He refused her and their baby
because months before, he asked her to leave her job at the
Birke’s house, but she never obey him. If she had listened to
him, he would have provided her all the things that she needed.
He concluded by saying: “Goe seek you another ffather to your
child of your will for I meane not to ffather it. [...] I will shift it
of well enoughe and my wife will helpe to cleare me of this
matter and to shift it of us as she hathe shifted me of suche

matters as this is before now””’.

The Birkes knew about the girl’s pregnancy and for this
reason, they organised a meeting with the Creedes in a tavern to
talk about it. More was there too and her rapist threatened her in
front of everyone. Mrs. Creede believed More and asked her to
accept ten shillings, take the Cambridge Carriers cart and leave
the city to deliver her baby'®’. More had to deliver her baby
soon and that journey was too dangerous for them. For this
reason, she remained in London with no house or a job. For days
she lived in the streets, until she met a poor woman in Gravell
Lane, who offered her to stay at her warehouse but she did have
no food and water. More accepted anyway. Few days later, she

was found by Mrs. Birke who helped her with the delivery'’.

More’s deposition was characterised by the limits of the
language that every woman would have had in describing her
rape or the attempted one and the sexual body in legal terms.
Speech about this crime was restricted from a semantic point of
view, because of the use of a particular language and prepared
declarations that the jury wanted to hear in order to be

convinced about the innocence of the woman. It was also

99 Ibiden pp.297-326.
100 An unwed woman carted out of town was a practice of many villages and towns that gave them the chance to
delivery their sons. Moreover, It was wintertime, classified as the coldest ever seen in the last 30 years of the seventeen
century. That year, the ice split the trees, birds and animals died. The freezing of the Thames blocked any chance of
importing food from the other countries and caused the critical food shortage and the raise of its price.
19" Mrs. Birke asked to two friends of her to make More stay at their house and provided a midwife who would help her
with the delivery.
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modified and influenced by the law, the male subjectivity and

the social and political practices of dominant interests.

Those narratives had to be considered legal ones, during
which “a woman defined a reality about rape and its meaning,
which was at the time conditioned by available languages™'®*.
Only in the early seventeenth century did rape start to count as
sex crime. Previously, the law did not consider those cases as a
real crime even if violence was present, and classified it as a
property crime because the woman was perceived as a property
of a man. A case was classified as rape only if there was the
“carnaliter cognovit” (carnally knew) and the penetration was
considered an offense against property. This change of
perspective and categorisation shifted the focus onto the
victim’s resistance, morality and state of mind. As Gowing
underlines, “the more rape was understood as sexual, the harder

99103

it was to believe women and consequently their reputation

changed.

All the judges were male, who took down the testimony of

the witnesses and recorded judicial decisions and orders.

More’s speech brought important linguistic consequences. It
could have caused a social and political exclusion of the woman.
Yet, it was considered a tool to understand the female role in the
rape and whether the girl followed her desires, giving her own
consent or not. Mary Bodden tries to define the narrative of
those victims. First of all, she underlines that all those stories
used to have one thing in common: passivity in their self-
defence. Women described themselves as condescending to their

rapists and persuaded to fall in the darkness and uncleanness of

102 Walker, Garthine, “Rereading Rape and Sexual Violence in Early Modern England”, Gender & History, 10/1
(1998).
103 Gowing Laura, Common Bodies: Women, Touch and Power in Seventeenth-Century England. New Haven, Yale
University Press, 2003, 92.
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temptation, with the consequence of becoming “weak, repentant,
defiled”'™. As Walker Garthine underlines, the blame and
dishonour deriving from this situation were “feminised in ways
that made sexual language an inappropriate medium through

19 From a male perspective, language

which to report a rape
was a female accomplice'*®; while from a female one, it could
easily become their major enemy, capable of destroying their
life in a community in few seconds. In fact, arguing aggressively
and fighting for personal freedom and rights was considered
unfeminine and put the victim in the condition of not being
believed. Showing a passive approach was the only way women
had “to remove any trace of accountability”'”’. In order to do so,
they had to use some rhetorical strategies in those legal
discourses, such as not reacting too aggressively towards her
rapist and not showing any kind of personal interest and feeling
towards him, but on the contrary, the disgust was more
appreciated because it added truthfulness in her words and story.
These strategies were so easily used that in the end, what judges
could see in a court was not a real woman, but only a law puppet

with no proper identity.

More was an exception to this rule. In the first part of her
interrogatory, she misrecognized the legal passive role of
women, which established that they could “barely own their
own bodies”; if men raped them, it happened because women
were persuaded “beyond the limits of sexual consent” into

sex'™%  Three pages out of five released by the deposition

104 “Women, Legal Discourse, Interpretative Maneuvres and Negotiating Safety”, Mary C. Boddern, Marquette
University USA, pp.297-326.
105 Ibiden, pp.297-326.
106 From a Christian point of view, the history of Adam and Eve in the Garden of Eden gave a bad reputation to
women, because not only Eve heard the devil’s advice and believed that breaking the rule would not have brought
negative consequences, but, in particular, she used her beauty and her speech to convince Adam in eating the apple.
From the Middle Ages, women were considered servants of Satan and were rappresented in the many works next to the
serpent. This belief became a plague for them and was one of the main explainations of why they could not express
themselves freely and were considered the weak link of the society.
107 Ibiden pp.297-326.
108 Ibiden pp.297-326.
109 Ibiden pp.297-326.
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focused on the moment of rape, which happened after Creede
offered her so much wine until she got terribly drunk and was
not able to control herself anymore. From a legal perspective,
this type of sexual violence happened without any willing

consent of the victim.

More stressed in particular not only that she had been
enticed by the man and his several harassments but also how
determined she was in not meeting him in the days after the
sexual violence. This misrecognition was induced by More’s
disasters that had happened in her life: first of all, she was
seduced by Creede through alcohol; then she got pregnant and
left alone by her rapist when she needed his help; she lost her
job and tried to survive day after day, knowing that this story
ruined her reputation, in fact many people called her as Creede’s

5110,

“whore” 7; and she received public humiliation from her rapist

and his wife.

The girl, who was under oath, described her working
history. She had had four masters in a period of five years with
no incidents. One of them wanted to help her due to the
conditions in which she was living, offering her a large amount

of money but she refused.

This case was prosecuted by John Scale under the cause of
the ecclesiastical order. Scales had been able to procure a
warrant bringing Creede in front of Sir Stephen Soame, the
major of London and member of the House of Commons, in
order to hear his version before More’s. The latter feared about
being disadvantaged by the Creede and “by the historically

rooted cultural narratives in their favor”'!!.

110 Even though More showed an ingledibly strenghness, she was vulnerable to morality as all the other rape victims.
Probably this woman developped a consciousness of injustice, due to the fact that social circumstances did not give to
people like her the right to voice these type of injuries.
111 “Women, Legal Discourse, Interpretative Maneuvres and Negotiating Safety”, Mary C. Boddern, Marquette
University USA, pp.297-326.
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More was able to construct a coherent profile, organizing all
the fragments of her past, through a perfect recollection of them.
Another point in her favour was that she never asked for money
even though she was starving in the streets and had no safe place
in which she could deliver her baby. The support from the
Birke’s, Scales and Soame’s towards More’s story implied a

positive vision of this woman as a good citizen.

Creede’s behaviour was classified as sexually scandalous
and criminal. He did not only pay a group of men to stalk her,
but also threatened her if she did not do what he asked her:
“(Mr. Creede) persuaded her [...] to clere him of his
incontinentie with her [...] and to save his credit he sometimes
speaking her fayre sometimes threatening her that he would

12 The latter was a house of

have her to Bridewell [...]
correction, a punishment used against women who had children
out of wedlock. Once there, women were separated from their
babies, who were left in a parish. In the region of Essex, women
were punished differently: they were publicly whipped till their
backs were bloody. Moreover, the Bridewell Court Minute
Books reveal that from 1565 to 1606 those women had also to

follow a particular dress code in order to make sure that every

person could immediately understand their guilt.

All the other women’s depositions were fundamental in
order to understand Creede’s aggressive mistreatment of
women. Anne Birkes described the moment in which she and
Mrs. Creede were accompanying Suzan More in Bishopsgate
and the latter told them all the affairs that Mr. Creede used to
have at widow Grimes’ house: “[...] he used to have other
women besides her there, as namely one from Lamberth, another
that had a great belly, and a third that was there in the same

widow Grimes’ house but she being grown now something old

112 Ibiden pp.297-326.
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she said that he had told her that he cared not for her now”' ",

John Scales and other eight witnesses of the community decided

to prosecute him for bastardy.

In More’s deposition, resistance is present everywhere. She
resisted more than once Creede’s several attempts in drinking
wine together to spend the night with him and his stratagems in
blaming her pregnancy on Mr. Birke; she also resisted the
pressure for bringing suit against Creede. In her description of
facts, she stressed more than once on the uncivilized and
irrational nature of this man, in particular when she dwelled on
her pregnancy and his attempt in denying any relationship with
their baby and also how he insisted on her leaving her job at the

Birkes’ house.

This girl showed another form of resistance: she was able to
preserve her own self as a good worker and citizen, without
sinking into prostitution, (which in the majority of cases
happened to many single mothers), she also resisted common
cultural narratives. Her integrity and humility was extremely
appreciated by the judges and all the other members of the
community, who subverted the conclusion of this rape case in
the court, with the punishment of the rapist and the acceptance

and defence of the victim within the community.

These two stories show that in these situations women had
to overcome many obstacles and most of them ended up like
Margaret Knowsley: not be believed and punished for a crime
that they had not committed. As we have previously seen,
judges were reluctant in believing that a woman could be
innocent and for this reason, if she wanted to be trusted, she had
to arm herself with at least few witnesses, who could confirm

her version of facts. Even in this case, sexual difference was

113 Ibiden pp.297-326.
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important because a male witness was more appreciated than a
female one and he could immediately free the victim from all
the accusations and put the judges in the condition of punishing
the rapist through a fine or several months in prison. The lack of
witnesses has been one of the main cause of the unfair Margaret

Knowsley's punishment and the turning point in Susan More's

story.

In the first case, Knowsley had many obstacles to destroy:
the first one was her reputation, already negative before the
beginning of the trial. In fact, she was a beautiful woman who
miscarried an illegitimate child years before. The two elements
combined together, put the judges in a condition of believing
that she was a loose woman, who would do anything to clean
her reputation and destroy the one of an important clergyman.
Moreover, the identity of Stephen Jerome was another obstacle
for her: because she was accusing a clergyman in a church court,
so a colleague of the judges and for this reason, considered

innocent right from the start.

The last obstacle that she met was having spread
unconsciously a gossip. Gossiping was not appreciated,

especially if it was about certain topics as sexual violence.

For all these reasons, the fact of being a good worker,
having tried to resist her rapist and refused all his gifts were not
enough for the judges, to believe her, listen to any witnesses'
version of facts and ended punishing her physically, even

though there were no proofs against her.

Susan More's story was completely the opposite considering
the precedent one. In fact, she had a clean record: her work and
code of behaviour were supported mostly by the entire
community. She was a hard worker who had a beautiful
relationship with her owners. She was raped in an unconscious
state by her rapist, who had been caught days after in the same

situation with many other people, who witnessed against him in
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the court. Her speech has been another important element of her
strength: she did not hide the fact that she was a single mother
and she also presented herself and all the other women as
sexually driven and morally frail human beings, victims of male
morally superiority. More demonstrated that she probably
comprehended not only her own innocence but also the one of

all the other raped women.
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V4

Philomela and Lucrece:

literary exemplum of forced silence

In early modern England, being a woman still meant being
associated to the religious figure of Eve, the first female sinner,
who had turned Adam into a spotted soul. This connection had a
strong impact on men’s minds and became a heavy burden for
women; Eve’s example was used several times as a similitude or
a metaphor to define them as an evil presence in the society and
a bad temptation for men’s soul. Men created stereotypes such
as the fact that they were stronger and more intelligent than
women to define their superiority towards the female
counterpart in terms of sex, social and political power and
knowledge. This explains why women occupied the lowest part
of the social hierarchy, together with slaves and homeless
people, the outcasts of the community. Moreover, women were
forced to follow the rules of a society that deprived them of
every right and equality, and denied their ability to express
themselves freely.

In this chapter, I will stress in particular on the female fight
against such forced silence. I will analyse this concept from a
general perspective and then I will focus in particular on two
raped women in literature, Philomela and Lucretia, and their use
in the main instrument of early modern English women’s revolt;
writing. The act of expressing a thought and making statements
could be interpreted as a female necessity to declare publicly
what she never had the chance to say not only to the other sex,
but also to the other women. It became an instrument of a self-

propaganda that aimed to create a common female reaction
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against their every-day life situation; moreover, it was used to
arise fear into men’s mind and heart: even though women could
not speak, they could challenge them through the power of

written words to show all their inner strength.

VI.1 - Early modern English Philomelas: Jane Anger,
Aemilia Layner and Mary Wroth

One of the well-known female fighters against this forced
silence was Jane Anger. There are no biographical news about
her life. Her JANE ANGER her Protection for Women gave her
the chance of being recognised as the first female voice that got
access to the sphere of pamphlet written in the 16™ century. Her
work was written in 1588 and published the following year in
England, as an explicit response to a misogynistic work by
Thomas Orwin called Boke his Surfeit in love, which had not
survived. In order to analyse this pamphlet, I would like to start
from one of her final poems, Eiusdem as Lectorem. It presents to
the public her emotional state and opinions about men and their
unreasonable behaviours towards women. Anger also expresses
her desire for a female reaction in order to regain a power and be

able to break that forced silence.

Eiusdem ad Lectorem,
de Authore.'™

Though, sharpe the seede, by Anger sowen,
we all (almost) confesse:
And hard his hap we aye account,
who Anger doth possesse:
Yet haplesse shalt thou (Reader) reape,
such fruit from ANGERS soile,
As may thee please, and ANGER ease
from long and wearie toile
Whose paines were tooke for thy behoofe,
to till that cloddye ground,

"4 Jane Anger , Jane Anger her Protection for Women. To defend them against the scandalous reportes of a late

Surfeiting Lover, and all other like Venerians that complaine so to bee overcloyed with womens kindnesse, London,
Printed by Richard Jones, and Thomas Orwin. 1589.
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Where scarce no place, free from disgrace,
of female Sex, was found.
If ought offend, which she doth send,
impute it to her moode.
For ANGERS rage must that asswage,
as wel is understoode
If to delight, ought come in sight,
then deeme it for the best.
So you your wil, may well fulfill,
and she have her request.

FINIS

This poem is characterized by the dominant metaphor of the
sowing, used to describe herself as an angry writer who wants to
publish an invective against men. She begins by underlining that
in order to create a work that will impress the public and define
her interiority, she must behave as a farmer in his field. It is
empty at the beginning, but then, thanks to his patience and hard
work, he will be able to sow it and obtain blooming plants and
tasty fruits. Her pamphlet has been the result of a long sowing of
words on a white page. However, she underlines that these
words are sharp because they had to show how angry she is
against the other sex. This writing is the mirror of her interiority:
this aspect is enhanced by the fact that she constantly plays with
her surname to express her rage throughout the poem'". An
example has to be found in the fifth and sixth verses: “yet
haplesse shalt thou (Reader) reape, / such fruit from ANGERS

»116 Here she seems to be aware that the future readers of

soile
this pamphlet will be especially men, and she wants to warn
them that the content will be disappointing because it was not

written to elevate them, but on the contrary to despise them.

"5 Susan Gushee O’malley underlines that that nowadays there are many contradictory opinions about Jane Anger’s
identity. In fact, some critics believe that in the reality, her name was just a pseudonym through which a man tried to
talk about women and defend them against this misogynistic society. In other cases, it is believed that she existed
because her surname was common in certain parts of England as for example in Berkshire, Cambridge, Cornwall and
Essex. However, there are such little information about her life that is impossible to find an answer to this dilemma.
Susan Gushee O’Malley, Defences of women: Jane Anger, Rachel Speght, Ester Sowerham and Constantia Munda,
Routledge, 1995, p. 10.
"1 Jane Anger, Eiusdem ad Lectorem, de Authore - Jane Anger her Protection for Women. To defend them against the
scandalous reportes of a late Surfeiting Lover, and all other like Venerians that complaine so to bee overcloyed with
womens kindnesse, London, Printed by Richard Jones, and Thomas Orwin. 1589, vv.5-6.
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This woman transmits strength, courage and pride to female
readers because she is not scared of facing men: in the first
verse, she underlines that she is the sender of the poem, “though,
sharpe the seede, by Anger sowen”''’. She is talking not only
about and for herself: she is presenting a common female
problem and source of discomfort to the other sex. It is a
precious chance to hear for once from both the parts, which she
does not want to waste. She is also aware that probably men will
criticise her and use censorship to destroy her hard work.
However, she does not care about it because what counts is to
“asswage™''® her pain and rage through her writing, which is the
only means available.

Her pamphlet is here presented as “a long and wearie

toilenll‘)

. These adjectives underline the effort that she made to
make sure that the public could perceive her true self, her rage
and her need to let off steam; she meant to be sure that she wrote
every single injustice that women have to bear every single day
and to send a clear message to all the people that would have
read her work.

After that, she describes the topic of her pamphlet: “paines

were tooke for thy behoofe” and “disgrace of female Sex”'*’. I

n
both cases, Jane Anger directs her attention to men, accusing
them of using women to satisfy their appetite and necessities
and consequently making them suffer a different kind of pain:
Anger does not cite only physical pain but also the
psychological one. Both of them are dangerous because men are
able to destroy the virtue, the dignity and the social position of a
woman through sexual violence and lies. What is worse is that,
men destroy women just because of their needs. This underlines

that men do not care about the other sex, which is presented here

just as an object to be thrown away once used. For all these

"7 Ibiden, v.1.
"'* Ibiden, v. 15.
"% Jane Anger, “Jane Anger, her Protection for Women.”, Richard Jones and Thomas Orwin, 1589, p. 1.
2 Ibiden, p. 1.
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reasons, the author presents her need to offend the male readers,
because, as she will highlight in her pamphlet, they take women
for granted; they constantly offend the female sex that cannot
find a way to react, because men silenced them in many ways
believing that women will never find a way to revolt and speak.
Anger now has the chance to take her revenge and shout out
loud “her moode”'*",

The end of this poem highlights her second aim: being
heard in particular by the other sex to explain her necessities and
requests. Writing becomes fundamental for a woman because in
a world where she is always silenced, it becomes a hope through
which she can try to communicate. From this perspective,
writing somehow reminds us of the same importance that
tapestry had for Philomela. Layner is a modern Philomela and
this pamphlet is her tapestry in which she describes women’s
condition and the change it deserves.

Anger made it clear right from the preface that her work
was written in response to The Book of Surfeit in Love,
considered a misogynistic book. To Jane Anger, it is just a
tangled web of lies used to ruin women’s reputation and create
false stereotypes in order to define male superiority'*>. She spots
male incoherence linked with the fact that they are trying to
destroy something that at the same time excite them: why should
they ruin people who make them feel good? Jane Anger
addresses these questions to two different group of people:
“Gentle women of England” and “All Women in general”'*’.

In the first case, the adjective “gentle” does not refer to an
economical condition and a high social position, being gentle is
a characteristic typical of all the female sex (in particular,

English women), which has a noble soul by nature. It is used as

2! Ibiden, p.1.
'22 This pamphlet begins saying: “To defend them against the / SCANDALOUS REPORTES of a late Surfeiting lover”.
Capital letters are a sign of the author’s fierceness against Orwin. It seems as if she was shouting those words to
highlight her state of mind. Jane Anger, “Jane Anger, her Protection for Women.”, Richard Jones and Thomas Orwin,
1589, p. 1.
' Ibiden, pp. 1-2.
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a unifying factor. This condition is in contrast with the “diseased

ersons”?* with whom Anger wants to discuss about the
p g

“plaintifes wrongs”'*

that define the female everyday life. The
word “diseased” indicates not only Anger’s rage but also the
fact that men’s mind deforms the real facts. Anger underlines
that it produces always false accusations to blame women as it
happened to the “faifthful Deianira”'*’, who was the victim of
lies of Nessus and only in the end discovered the truth'*’. Jane
tries to advice women: not to trust men’s fidelity so easily. For
this reason, man is metaphorically compared to a “ravenous

fOXnIZS

in the way it reacts towards a goose. The fox is well-
known for being a thief and clever animal that lures its prey to
kill it. Anger uses another metaphor to highlight this male
characteristic: they are like “a glass of dissembling water”'?.
Man’s face is compared to something that constantly changes
and never presents itself in the same way. They are instable,
false. They have different identities used to deceive women,
who “are too credulous”’. Gossip is a typical action of men,

95131

who Anger defines as a “divelish practice that nobody has

ever punished. They use their false tongues to “abuse and

slander”!*

women. Gossip was generally considered more a
female practice, but Anger’s words twist the facts to

demonstrate that the real evil creature is man. If men have a

2* Ibiden, p. 1.
2 Ibiden, p. 1.
126 Ibiden, p. 5.
'*" Deianira is a mythological Greek figure who married a Eracle, Zeus’ son. During their moving to Thessallia, they
approached to a river and did not know how to overcome it. The centaurus Nessus saw them and approached them. He
presents himself as the boat man of the river. The couple trusted him but after having reached the other bank, Nessus
kidnapped Deianira. Eracle used one of his arrows to hurt him to death and succeed. Before dying, Nessus told Deianira
that she had to keep his magical blood in a small bottle and verse it in Eracle’s armour, because in that way she would
have prevent him in looking at other women. Once arrived in Thessallia, Deianira feared that the princess lole could
take her husband away from her and for this reason, she followed the centaurus’ instructions. This story did not have an
happy ending because once Eracle wore his armour, he burn to death.
2 Tbiden, p.6.
' Ibiden, p. 7.
% Ibiden, p. 4.
B! Ibiden, p. 2.
132 These two words show clearly her adversity towards men and gives a strong idea of female sufferance. Ibis, p. 2.
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133
722 correct, clean, not

diseased mind, the one of women is “just
mischievous. She concludes this dedication in asking to her
English female readers to take part to this revolt with her: “I
hope you rather shew yourselves defendants of the defenders

134
”", Moreover, she

title, than complaints of the plaintifes wrong
clarifies her aim in this situation: “committing your protection,
and my selfe, to the protection of your selves, and the judgement
of the cause to the censures of your just mindses”'*”.

The second dedication is referred to a larger group of
women (“To all women in general”'*®). Anger recognizes that
forced silence was a common negative condition and wants to
become the defender of every single humiliated woman on
earth. Again, Anger makes an invitation to the large public:
“assist me in defence of my willingness, which shall make me
rest at your commandes”'?’. She makes clear that she does not
only need their sustain, but she also wants to defend them and
searches for their approval.

She begins with by saying that even though women are
strongly criticized, they are essential for men because of two
different reasons: they are fundamental for their survival and are
important for their writings. Men demonstrated of being
uncapable of expressing their feelings in their works; since their
imagination is restricted to few arguments, they feel the need to
use their rhetoric to despise women in order to create something
new. However, they tend to judge the causes of women’s
inexistent malice; the result is that women perceive while
reading those works is that men are talking about a subject that
they cannot master, only starting to be repetitive. Moreover,
they seem to be so self-confident because “they suppose that

there is not one amongst us who can or dare reproove their

33 Ibiden, 1589, p. 1.
* Ibiden, 1589, p. 1.

3 Ibiden, p. 1.
¢ Ibiden, p.1.
7 Ibiden, p. 2.
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slanders and false reproches” . Anger recognizes to herself the
power of playing their same game. She shows not only that she
received a classical education'’®, but also that she exploits a
typical male form of writing, the pamphlet, to give them a
female answer and refute their beliefs through reproaches and
reproves.

To Anger, men who write about female conditions are like
cocks that are fighting each other to define their male sexual
prowess' *. Their writings are the way through which men repay
women after all the attentions and kindness the latter gave them.
Thomas Orwin’s work is the best example of how men dispraise
women without being well-informed about them. She uses irony
in order to criticize him and indirectly show her superiority. She
underlines that both sexes want to come in contact with
novelties. However, in many cases, as for example in 7he Book
in Surfeiting Love, male writings concerning women are not
satisfying as they seem, and are in fact boring'*'. In this book,
the style is perfect but the content is false and impure; because
of this reason, the entire work is not interesting: ‘“Neither did the
ending there of lesse please me then the beginning, for I was so
carried away with the conceit of the Gent. As that I was quite
out of the booke before I thought I had bene in the middest there
of: so pithie were his sentences, so pure his words, and so

142 Men’s style changes on the basis of the

pleasing his style.
topic described; they are cocky and use pure words when they
talk about themselves, while when they focus on women, they

use their folly and dispraise words to destroy female reputation.

¥ Ibiden, p. 3.
"% Jane Anger uses more than one proverb in Latin language to describe certain situations, as for example “Mulier est
hominis confusio” and refers to classical philosophers and mythological exemplum to describe men’s behaviours as for
example the story of Deianira, Menalaus, Plato and Hesiodus.
140« ] which conceites have already made them cockes and wolde make themselves among themselves bee thought to
be of the game”, Ibis, p. 2.
141«[ ] because as well women as men are desirous of novelties, I willing lie read over” Jane Anger, “Jane Anger, her
Protection for Women.”, Richard Jones and Thomas Orwin, 1589, p. 3.
2 Ibiden, p. 3.
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Jane Anger tries to reverse all the social belief about
women. Firstly, if women are so dangerous as they are depicted,
she cannot understand why all virtues have always been
recognized only as female goddesses. An example is Fidelity,
associated to a woman and not to a man because it “could not be

. 143
in them men”

, as if it is not part of his inner nature. Woman
becomes a synonymous of virtue and men should only be proud
of her, but instead, they are classified as evil creatures.

Other interesting aspects are scholarship and intelligence.
Men always consider themselves as the only sex that deserves
their knowledge’s implement. On the contrary, Anger underlines
that women can be as educated as men; in fact, her pamphlet is a
concrete example of a perfect female education. Moreover,
women have another ability: distinguish good things from the
evil ones. For this last reason, there is a huge difference in the
way one sex loves the other. In fact, “she loveth man for his

virtues, & hateth him for his vices”'*

. Anger quotes the
classical figure of Hesiodus, who recognises that women care so
much about their men that they could even give their lives. Men,
instead, are at first attracted by women’s virtues, but they are not
actually in love with their women. Once married, they start to
feel the need of ruin them. They do not know the difference
between good and evil and because they are “spur blind”'**, they
choose the latter and do not feel guilty for the pain caused. “Our
good towards them is the destruction of ourselves, we being wel

d”'*. As this sentence

formed, are by them fouly deforme
shows, male physical violence makes women look ugly and
their beauty and tenderness are belittled. Woman is reduced into
an object used to release and alleviate men’s pain. This is the
beginning of the forced submission to men, that causes only pain

as Anger describes: “We languish when they laugh, we lie

'3 Ibiden, p. 4.
** Ibiden, p. 5.
'3 Ibiden, p. 5.
"6 Ibiden, p. 5.
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sighing when they sit singing, and sit sobbing when they lie

14 .
»147 " This sentence focuses on two

slugging and sleeping
different aspects: the validity of female submission to men and
its concrete realisation through physical violence.

In the first case, Anger uses religion to refute the
degradation of women. She overturns the image of Eve into a
positive exemplum. Jane does not deny the fact that she is
guilty, because the request of eating the apple came from her'**,
However, she was also the first one of the couple to apologize
for what happened and recognized immediately the evil in what
she and Adam had done. Moreover, the creation of the first
woman overturns and destroys male belief about the inferiority
of women. Adam was created from a “drosse and filthy clay”'*.
God decided to create Eve to purify him from the dusting dust.
She was born with a great responsibility. Anger is indirectly
highlighting that the woman is God’s privileged creature. She
also refers to the figure of the Virgin Mary not only because she
was the first person who believed in God, but also because she
gave birth to His son. The woman has another important duty
and responsibility: the survival of human kind. Without her, men
cannot exist.

Male violence is instead presented as the reaction of a
scared person. It is possible that man is aware that woman is
stronger and capable of reacting towards certain situations; so,
for this reason, the only way to contain her is using violence.
Throughout the pamphlet, Anger uses several haunting images
to talk about violence. Men are compared to “ravenous haukes,

: 150
who doe not only seize upon us, but devour us” °". The verb

“devour” suggests perfectly the idea of destruction of female

7 Ibiden, p. 6.
4% She admits that there is equality between the two sexes “none is good but God, and therefore women are ill”. No
distinction is made and this aspect should have applied every single day in every aspect of life Ibis, p. 6.
' Ibiden, p. 7.
% Ibiden, p. 4.
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sex. It is a kind of violence that culminates with a murder; and
gives no hope.

In another part of her work, Anger compares this violent
connection between man and woman to a “wilde boar” that is
hunted by the “tame hounds”"”'. What is difficult to understand
in this case is how to identify who plays which role. Following
common logic, woman suffers from male violence; so, she
should be the boar, while the men are the